Influence of Solution Viscosity on Cell Functions in 3D Culture System Using Gelatin Biphasic Hydrogels

Kyubae Lee

February 2021

Influence of Solution Viscosity on Cell Functions in 3D Culture System Using Gelatin Biphasic Hydrogels

Kyubae Lee

Doctoral Program in Materials Science and Engineering

Submitted to the Graduate School of Pure and Applied Sciences in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Engineering

at the

University of Tsukuba

| List of abbreviations | IV |
|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------|
| General introduction | 1 |
| 1.1 Material properties affecting cell functions | 2 |
| 1.1.1 Linear elasticity | 2 |
| 1.1.2 Nonlinear elasticity | 3 |
| 1.1.3 Viscosity | 4 |
| 1.1.4 Viscoelasticity | 4 |
| 1.2 Influence of mechanical properties of hydrogels on cell functions | |
| 1.2.1 Influence of linear elasticity on cell functions | 6 |
| 1.2.2 Influence of nonlinear elasticity on cell functions | 7 |
| 1.2.3 Influence of viscoelasticity on cell functions | 7 |
| 1.2.4 Influence of viscosity on cell functions | |
| 1.3 Motivation, objectives and outline | 8 |
| 1.3.1 Motivation | 8 |
| 1.3.2 Objectives and outline | 9 |
| 1.4 References | 9 |
| Solution viscosity regulates chondrocyte proliferation and phenotype during 3D culture. | 16 |
| 2.1 Abstract | 16 |
| 2.2 Introduction | 16 |
| 2.3 Materials and methods | |
| 2.3.1 Synthesis of gelatin methacryloyl (GelMA) | |
| 2.3.2 ¹ H-nuclear magnetic resonance (¹ H-NMR) | |
| 2.3.3 Measurements of viscosity of gelatin solution and stiffness of gelatin hydrogels | 18 |
| 2.3.4 Isolation and subculture of chondrocytes | 19 |
| 2.3.5 Preparation of chondrocyte-laden gelatin hydrogel microcubes | 19 |
| 2.3.6 Preparation of GelMA hydrogels loaded with cell-laden gelatin hydrogel microcubes | 19 |
| 2.3.7 Evaluation of cell proliferation and sulfated glycosaminoglycan (sGAG) production | 20 |
| 2.3.8 Actin filament and cell nuclei staining | 20 |
| 2.3.9 Real-time polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) analysis | 20 |
| 2.3.10 Statistical analysis | 21 |
| 2.4 Results | 21 |
| 2.4.1 Rheological characteristics of gelatin solution and stiffness of gelatin hydrogels | 21 |
| 2.4.2 Preparation of cell-laden biphasic GelMA hydrogels | 22 |
| 2.4.3 Quantification of DNA and sGAG | 23 |
| 2.4.4 Cell morphology | 24 |
| 2.4.5 Quantification of cartilaginous gene expression | |
| 2.5 Discussion | |
| 2.6 Conclusions | |
| 2.7 References | 29 |
| Influence of viscosity on chondrogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells during culture in viscous gelatin solution-embedded hydrogels | 3D 32 |

Contents

| 3.1 Abstract | 32 |
|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----|
| 3.2 Introduction | 32 |
| 3.3 Materials and methods. | |
| 3.3.1 Synthesis of gelatin methacrylovl macromer | 34 |
| 3.3.2 Culture and osteogenic differentiation of hMSCs | 34 |
| 3.3.3 Preparation of hMSC-laden gelatin microcubes | 34 |
| 3.3.4 Preparation of GelMA hydrogels containing hMSC-laden gelatin microcubes | 35 |
| 3.3.5 Cell viability assay | 36 |
| 3.3.6 Cell proliferation and sGAG production assay | 36 |
| 3.3.7 RNA isolation and RT-PCR analysis | 36 |
| 3.3.8 Statistical analysis | 37 |
| 3.4 Results | 37 |
| 3.4.1 Viscosity of gelatin solution of different concentration and stiffness of GelMA hydrogel | 37 |
| 3.4.2 Preparation of biphasic hydrogels loaded with cell-laden gelatin solutions | 38 |
| 3.4.3 Cell viability | |
| 3.4.4 Influence of gelatin solution viscosity on proliferation and sGAG production of hMSCs | 40 |
| 3.4.5 Influence of ECM scaffolds on osteogenesis of hMSCs | 41 |
| 3.5 Discussion | 42 |
| 3.6 Conclusions | 43 |
| 3.7 References | 43 |
| 4.1 Abstract | 46 |
| 4.2 Introduction | 46 |
| 4.3 Materials and methods | 48 |
| 4.3.1 Preparation of gelatin solutions and their viscosity measurement | 48 |
| 4.3.2 Preparation of cell-laden gelatin hydrogel microcubes | 48 |
| 4.3.3 Preparation of gelatin methacryloyl hydrogels embedded with cell-laden gelatin hydrogel microcubes | 49 |
| 4.3.4 3D culture and competing osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation of hMSCs in gelatin | - |
| solutions of different viscosities | 49 |
| 4.3.5 Cell proliferation | 50 |
| 4.3.6 Cell viability | 50 |
| 4.3.7 Alkaline phosphatase activity assay | 50 |
| 4.3.8 Calcium deposit assay | 50 |
| 4.3.9 Oil Red O staining and quantification | 51 |
| 4.3.10 RNA isolation and Real-Time PCR analysis | 51 |
| 4.3.11 Statistical analysis | 52 |
| 4.4 Results | 52 |
| 4.4.1 Gelatin solutions of different viscosities | 52 |
| 4.4.2 GelMA hydrogels embedded with hMSC-laden gelatin solutions and cell viability | 53 |
| 4.4.3 Influence of matrix viscosity on cell proliferation | 54 |
| 4.4.4 Influence of matrix viscosity on osteogenic differentiation of hMSCs | 55 |
| 4.4.5 Influence of matrix viscosity on adipogenic differentiation of hMSCs | 56 |

| 4.4.6 Influence of viscosity on competing osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation of hMS | SCs57 |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------|
| 4.5 Discussion | 59 |
| 4.6 Conclusions | 60 |
| 4.7 References | 60 |
| Conclusions and future perspective | 63 |
| 5.1 Conclusions | 63 |
| 5.2 Future perspective | 64 |
| List of publications and awards | 65 |
| Publications: | 65 |
| Awards: | 66 |
| Acknowledgements | 67 |

List of abbreviations

| ECM | Extracellular matrix |
|---------------------|---------------------------------------------------------|
| 2D | Two-dimensional |
| 3D | Three-dimensional |
| hMSCs | Human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells |
| BACs | Bovine articular chondrocytes |
| PNIPAAm | Poly(N-isopropylacrylamide) |
| GelMA | gelatin methacryloyl |
| PBS | Phosphate-buffered saline |
| ¹ H-NMR | ¹ H-nuclear magnetic resonance |
| DMEM | Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium |
| sGAG | Sulfated glycosaminoglycan |
| EDTA-2Na | Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid disodium salt dihydrate |
| RT-PCR | Real-time polymerase chain reaction |
| MSCGM TM | Mesenchymal stem cell growth medium |
| PFA | Perfluoroalkoxy |
| FBS | Fetal bovine serum |
| cDNA | Complementary DNA |
| TGF-β3 | Transforming growth factor-beta3 |
| PEGDM | Polyethylene glycol dimethacrylate |
| PEG | Poly(ethylene glycol) |
| GAPDH | Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase |
| IBSP | Bone sialoprotein 2 |
| SPP1 | Secreted phosphoprotein 1 |
| SP7 | Osterix |
| RUNX2 | Runt-related transcription factor-2 |
| ALP | Alkaline phosphatase |
| LPL | Lipoprotein lipase |
| CEBPA | CCAAT/enhancer binding protein |
| FASN | Fatty acid synthase |
| FABP4 | Fatty acid binding protein 4 |
| DAPI | 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole dihydrochloride |
| pNPP | p-Nitrophenyl phosphate |
| IBMX | Methyl-isobutylxanthine |
| Indo | Indomethacin |
| | |

Chapter 1

General introduction

Cells are surrounded by their respective extracellular matrix (ECM) microenvironment and their interaction can regulate cell functions through biochemical cues and biomechanical cues (Figure 1.1), such as cell adhesion, migration, self-renewal, proliferation and differentiation [1-7]. Although the effect of mechanical properties of ECM has long been overshadowed due to an emphasis on the contribution of biochemical cues, some recent studies have revealed the influence of mechanical cues on cell functions [8-11]. So far, most studies have used elastic hydrogels as synthetic ECM due to their hydrophilic polymer networks that are structurally similar to the native microenvironment with high water content [12-15]. Cell response to such elastic matrix is instrumental in understanding the process of mechanotransduction. However, these approaches are insufficient to fully understand the mechanical contribution of viscoelastic ECM to cells. In fact, native ECM exhibits viscous properties as well as elastic properties [16-19]. Nevertheless, most studies have focused on elastic properties and overlooked the viscous properties.



Figure 1.1 The interaction between cell and ECM through biochemical and biomechanical cues.

1.1 Material properties affecting cell functions

In our daily life, native tissues experience various mechanical stresses, such as stretching, pulling and loading [20-22]. The stresses can deform our tissues and also generate mechanical cues which can be determined by forces and material property (e.g. elasticity, viscosity and viscoelasticity). Our native tissues exhibit linear elastic or nonlinear elastic behaviors depending on the degree of forces [23-25]. For example, skin can be recovered without any damage after being stretched. However, it may be torn when they are overstretched. The properties of materials can be characterized by exerting mechanical stress (i.e. stress-strain test) [26]. Stress is a physical quantity that expresses the internal resistance generated by a material in response to its magnitude when an external force (load) such as compression, tension, bending, or twist is applied to a material. Strain refers to the geometrical deformation of a material caused by a mechanical stress.

1.1.1 Linear elasticity

Linear elastic material is a material whose stress or strain is proportional to the strain or stress (i.e. the relationship between the stress and strain is linear). When a force is applied to a linear elastic material material deformation will continue as long as the force persists and when the force is removed the linear elastic material will fully return to its original shape and size without any energy loss or irreversible deformation (Figure 1.2). The properties of elastic materials are characterized by Young's modulus (E), Poisson's ratio (v), bulk modulus (K) and shear modulus (G) (Figure 1.3) [27-30]. The stiffness of elastic material is defined as the measurement of the deformation resistance when a stress or strain is applied to an elastic material. In stress-stain test, stiffness of linear elastic materials can be measured by Young's modulus (E), bulk modulus (K) and shear modulus (G). Most of the existing studies have used linear elastic materials to investigate the influence of matrix elasticity or matrix stiffness on cell functions [31-34]. However, living tissues are not only limited to linear elasticity [35].



Figure 1.2 In a linear elastic material, (a) stress applied to the material can induce (b) strain response (the point at which the load is applied to the material is indicated by a red arrow, while the point at which the load is removed is indicated by a blue arrow). (c) The relationship between the stress and stain is linear without loss of mechanical energy and irreversible deformation (a red arrow represents the mechanical loading, while a blue arrow represents the removal of the mechanical loading).



Figure 1.3 Elastic material has the following properties: (a) Young's modulus (E) which is a measurement of stiffness under an unidirectional mechanical loading (compression or tensile), (b) Poisson's ratio (v) which is the ratio of transverse strain to longitudinal strain under the axial mechanical loading, (c) bulk modulus (K) which is a measurement of volumetric stiffness under the uniform compression and (d) shear modulus (G) which is a measurement of stiffness under the opposite shear forces. Red arrow represents the direction of stress and orange arrow represents the direction of strain.

1.1.2 Nonlinear elasticity

Although *in vivo* tissues show linear elastic behaviors within a certain range of stress or strain, the tissues show nonlinear elastic behaviors when applied stress or strain exceeds yield point (Figure 1.4a). For example, the arterial vessel wall can be extended and return to its original shape and size under low blood pressure, whereas high blood pressure leads to eventual rupture [36]. The stretchable ligaments are helping to hold our skeleton in a normal alignment and prevent abnormal movements [37]. However, the ligaments can be torn and can't roil back to their original shape when high force is applied to a ligament. Therefore, biological tissues and ECM are not linear elastic materials (Figure 1.4b).



Figure 1.4 The stress-strain curves of elastic materials are measured in tensile or compression test. (a) A multilinear stress-strain curve of an elastic material where the nonlinear elastic region is observed when the stress or strain is over the yield strength. (b) The relationship between the stress and strain is nonlinear but no energy loss is observed (a red arrow represents the mechanical loading, while a blue arrow represents the removal of the mechanical loading).

1.1.3 Viscosity

Most exiting studies about cellular mechanotransduction have focused on static elastic materials to study cell behaviors. However, cells reside in native tissues with a dynamic and dissipative microenvironment [38-40]. Therefore, the property of viscous dissipation in a material is an important factor affecting cell behaviors [41-43]. Viscous material is a material whose strain increases linearly and irreversibly with time under a constant stress and the deformed structure will not be returned to its original shape after removing the stress (Figure 1.5).



Figure 1.5 In viscous materials, (a, b) strain increases linearly but not instantaneously under a mechanical stress. (b) Deformation of the viscous material remains after removing the applied stress.

1.1.4 Viscoelasticity

Biological tissues and ECM exhibit both elastic and viscous properties because they are viscoelastic materials [44, 45]. The viscoelastic materials have the following properties: hysteresis, creep and stress relaxation (Figure 1.6) [46-50]. Dynamic mechanical analysis gives information about viscoelasticity where



Figure 1.6 In viscoelastic materials, (a) hysteresis is observed because the material energy is dissipated during mechanical loading and unloading. (b) Creep and (c) stress relaxation are time-dependent increase or decrease in the response to strain or stress (a red arrow represents the mechanical loading, while a blue arrow represents the removal of the mechanical loading).

the storage modulus represents the storage of elastic energy (elastic resistance), while the loss modulus represents the loss of viscous energy (viscous dissipation) (Figure 1.7). The viscous dissipation is known as hysteresis in the strain-stress test where loading curve area is larger than the unloading curve area (Figure 1.6a). The area of irreversible deformation in a material is known as plasticity (Figure 1.7b). In addition, viscoelastic materials experience a molecular movement or rearrangement which is known as creep (Figure 1.6b). When a stress is applied to a viscous material, the strain increases linearly but irreversibly and polymer chain moves to another positions. On the other hand, viscoelastic materials have the properties to keep their structure in a strained conditions. When a strain is applied to a viscous material, the strain is applied to a viscous material, the strain is applied to a viscous material, the strain strained conditions. When a strain is applied to a viscous material, the strain is applied to a viscous material, the stress decreases linearly (Figure 1.6c).



Figure 1.7 The nonlinearity of viscoelastic materials is described by (a, b) a combination of creep and stress relaxation under the constant mechanical loading and unloading. The materials exhibit (b) a permanent deformation (plasticity) when the stress is removed. (a red arrow represents the mechanical loading, while a blue arrow represents the removal of the mechanical loading).

1.2 Influence of mechanical properties of hydrogels on cell functions

Since cells sense and respond to changes in mechanical properties of ECM, many studies have developed various kinds of biomaterials to understand cellular mechanical microenvironment *in vitro* [51-60]. Among them, hydrogels have been often used as synthetic ECM due to their hydrophilic polymer networks that are structurally similar to the native microenvironment and have high water content [61, 62]. A lot of studies have established fundamental cellular mechanotransduction based on cellular response to linear elasticity of hydrogels although they do not fully reflect viscoelastic ECM [63-65]. Hence, recent research has begun to pay attention to the role of nonlinear elasticity and viscoelasticity of hydrogels in regulating cell functions [66-68]. Furthermore, more recently, hydrogels have been used to investigate the influence of viscosity on cell functions by decoupling the influence of viscosity from other mechanical properties of hydrogels can enable researchers to investigate the influence of various mechanical properties of hydrogels can enable researchers to investigate the influence of various mechanical cues on cell functions.

1.2.1 Influence of linear elasticity on cell functions

Although the influence of biochemical cues have been extensively studied over a long period of time, the influence of biophysical cues (especially mechanical cues) has only recently started to attract attention. Early approaches to manipulate the mechanical properties of hydrogels have utilized two-dimensional (2D) polyacrylamide (PAA) gel substrates with different elastic moduli which are linear elastic hydrogels [73-76]. The stiffness of linear elastic material is characterized by Young's modulus where material exhibits a constant strain or stress when a constant stress or strain applied. Stiffness of linear hydrogels can be controlled by changing polymer concentration, molecular weight and crosslinking density [77-80], and such gel substrates are found to affect various cell functions, including cell proliferation, migration and differentiation [81-90]. For example, cells response to PAA gel substrates with different stiffness where cell spreading area and growth increase with increasing substrate stiffness and the well-organized actin cytoskeleton is observed in cells cultured on a stiff substrate [91]. Furthermore, gradient elastic substrates cause cells to migrate from soft regions to stiff regions via a cell migration process known as durotaxis [92]. Besides, stem cell differentiation has been regulated by substrate stiffness. Human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs) are cultured on PAA gel substrates with different stiffness. hMSCs cultured on soft, intermediate and stiff PAA gel substrates that mimic the elasticity of brain (0.1-1 kPa), striated muscle (8-17 kPa) and premineralized bone (25-40 kPa) can differentiate to neurocytes, osteoblasts and skeletal muscle cells, respectively [93]. However, since 2D culture systems can not reflect a three-dimensional (3D) native microenvironment accurately, recent studies have been further extended from 2D to 3D elastic hydrogel models and have shown different results. For example, cells cultured on 2D PAA gel substrates show cell morphology-dependent cell differentiation, with a stiff substrate leading to cell spreading and stronger osteogenesis rather than adipogenesis [93]. On the other hand, hMSCs cultured in 3D alginate hydrogels show morphology-independent osteogenic differentiation, indicating that hMSCs use different integrin binding when they are cultured in 2D and 3D matrices [94-97]. Taken together, the results indicate that linear elasticity affects various cell functions but has limitations in completely mimicking complex tissue microenvironment. Materials used for hydrogel preparation, their stiffness and their influence on cell functions are summarized in Table 1.1.

| Hydrogel materials | Stiffness | Influences |
|----------------------------------------------------------|------------------|-----------------------------------------|
| CalMA hydrocals [08, 00] | 3.8 - 29.9 kPa | Chondrocyte proliferation and phenotype |
| GenviA liyulogeis [96, 99] | 5 - 180 kPa | |
| Recombinant elastin-like protein hydrogels [100] | 715 - 3,919 Pa | Cardiomyocyte differentiati on |
| PAA based hydrogels [101] | 4 - 12 kPa | Osteogenic differentiation |
| | 281 - 841 Pa | Neurogenesis |
| Gelatin-hydroxyphenylpropionic acid hydrogels [102-104] | 1000 - 13,500 Pa | Osteogenic differentiation |
| | 570 - 2,750 Pa | Chondrogenesis |
| N-isopropylacrylamide (PNIPAAm) based hydrogels [105] | 5 - 63 Pa | Cardiac regeneration |

Table 1.1 Influence of materials and their stiffness on cell functions

| Collagen based hydrogels [106] | 3730 - 5,561 Pa | Chondrogenic differentiation | |
|----------------------------------------------|-----------------|------------------------------|--|
| Aligned Poly (L-lactic acid) hydrogels [107] | 22.76 MPa | Teno-lineage | |
| Alginate hydrogels [108] | 39 - 904 kPa | Fibroblast behaviors | |
| Hyaluronic acid hydrogels [109, 110] | 6.3 - 18 kPa | MSC morphology | |
| Tryaturonic acid nydrogets [109, 110] | 4 kPa | | |
| Alginate/collagen-I hydrogels [111] | 50 and 1200 Pa | Fibroblast morphology | |

1.2.2 Influence of nonlinear elasticity on cell functions

In our body, soft tissues and filamentous networks, including actin, collagen, fibrin, neurofilaments and vimentin, exhibit nonlinear elasticity which presents nonlinear stress-strain relationships even at small strains [112, 113]. The increase ratio between the stress and strain is nonlinear or not constant but increases with increasing strain after stress reaches a critical stress. Recent studies have demonstrated that 3D nonlinear elastic hydrogels which are close to the properties of native tissues can regulate cell functions, such as cell migration mode, mechanical homeostasis and cell differentiation [114-116]. For instance, human foreskin fibroblasts have been cultured in the linear cell-derived matrix and nonlinear collagen matrix. Results show that linear elasticity changes cells to lobopodia-based migration, whereas nonlinear elasticity supports lamellipodia-based migration. Another study reports that nonlinear polyisocyanopeptide (PIC)-based hydrogels are found to regulate cell lineage commitment where hMSC differentiation cultured in PIC is switched from adipogenic to osteogenic differentiation through stress stiffening [117].

1.2.3 Influence of viscoelasticity on cell functions

Despite a lot of studies on the influence of elastic materials on cell functions, native ECM microenvironment in tissues exhibits not only elastic properties but also viscous properties [118]. Contrary to elastic materials which exhibit a constant strain when a constant stress is applied, viscoelastic materials additionally exhibit viscous properties which show that strain increases when a constant stress is applied. Besides, viscoelastic materials are characterized by stress relaxation and creep which are phenomena observed in vicoelastic materials. Under applied forces, viscoelastic material undergoes a molecular rearrangement where the parts of long polymer chain change positions. For stress relaxation, the stress decreases when constant strain is applied, whereas for creep, the strain increases when constant stress is applied. Viscoelastic models prepared with various materials, methods and design have been found to regulate cell functions significantly. For example, stem cells cultured on high creep dissipative hydrogels are observed with increased cell spreading area but a decrease in the size of focal adhesion [119]. Another study reports that stem cells cultured on high-creep hydrogels proliferate and differentiate towards multiple lineages such as myogenesis, osteogenesis and adipogenesis [48]. In addition, viscoelastic hydrogels where stress is relaxed over time are prepared and used to study the role of stress relaxation in regulating cell volume [120]. In this report, chondrocytes have been cultured in 3D viscoelastic alginate hydrogels with different stress relaxation. The results indicate that stress relaxation can regulate cell volume. Faster relaxation allows cells to be expanded while slow relaxation confines cell volume. As a result, fast relaxation promotes cell proliferation and cartilage matrix formation while slow relaxation hinders cell proliferation

and restricts cell-cell communication and cartilage matrix formation. Another study demonstrates that stress-relaxation can regulate myoblast behaviors such as spreading and proliferation [121]. The influence of stress-relaxation has been compared with that of elasticity. The results show that myoblasts cultured on soft stress-relaxing substrates are promoted more than those cultured on purely elastic substrates with the same initial elastic modulus. Ionically crosslinked hydrogels enable the rearrangement of the polymer network, resulting in time-dependent stress relaxation which affects cell functions [122]. Taken together, these results suggest that viscoelastic hydrogels with stress relaxation play an important role in regulating cell functions.

1.2.4 Influence of viscosity on cell functions

Basically, viscoelastic materials have been characterized by a time-dependent viscous dissipation. However, there have been limitations in culturing cells in viscous environment due to lack of good culture system. Recent study has developed PAA gel substrates with independently tunable elastic properties and viscous dissipation to study the effect of viscous dissipation on cell functions [123]. In this report, PAA gel substrates have been prepared by sterically entrapping high molecular weight linear PAA molecules without covalent bonding in covalently crosslinked networks of PAA. Primary rat hepatic stellate cells are cultured on PAA gel substrates and the results show that PAA gel substrates reduce cell differentiation and maintain phenotypes with increasing viscous dissipation. Another approach has used some supported lipid bilayers with varying surface viscosity but same functionalized RGD ligands [124]. Murine myoblasts are cultured on such supported lipid bilayer substrates to study the mechanism of cell response to surface viscosity based on the molecular clutch model. Interestingly, the influence of surface viscosity is similar to that of matrix stiffness. Cells cultured on viscous surfaces exhibit substrate viscosity-dependent cell behaviors, with high viscous surfaces (low mobility) leading to a larger cell spreading area and well-organized cytoskeleton.

1.3 Motivation, objectives and outline

1.3.1 Motivation

In addition to the influence of biochemical cues on cell functions, recent studies have revealed the mechanical cues can regulate cell functions. A variety of materials and designs have been developed and used to study the cell responses to mechanical cues. However, previous approaches have the limitations in providing appropriate mechanical microenvironment for cells. Cells functions are affected by their surrounding microenvironments which are not static or elastic but dynamic and viscoelastic. Therefore, strategies to mimic the *in vivo* mechanical microenvironments are required to get more accurate information about cell behaviors.

Studies using elastic hydrogels have contributed to our understanding of the influence of mechanical cues on various cell functions including cell morphology, behaviors and differentiation. So far, the elastic hydrogel has been a suitable model for cellular mechanotransduction study. However, the elastic hydrogels with different stiffness have shown material dependent results. Furthermore, native tissues and ECM exhibit not only the properties of elastic solid but also the properties of viscous liquid. Therefore, an understanding of the contribution of viscous properties in ECM to cells is also required. Recent studies have decoupled the influence of viscous properties from that of other mechanical properties or used pure viscous surfaces to investigate the influence of viscosity on cell functions. However, these methods still have limitations in that they cannot provide a 3D viscous microenvironment to cells.

1.3.2 Objectives and outline

In this study, a biphasic solution/hydrogel model which was composed of an inner solution phase and an outer hydrogel phase was prepared. Solution viscosity was controlled by altering the concentration of gelatin solution. The biphasic solution/hydrogel culture system was used for 3D cell culture in viscous microenvironment to disclose the influence of solution viscosity on cell functions. The details are outlines as follows.

Chapter 2 describes the influence of solution viscosity on chondrocyte functions during 3D culture. The detailed preparation methods of the 3D biphasic solution/hydrogel culture system are described in this chapter. The cell functions including cell proliferation, sGAG production, cytoskeleton and cartilaginous gene expression were evaluated after cells were cultured in gelatin viscous microenvironment.

Chapter 3 describes the influence of solution viscosity on chondrogenic differentiation of hMSCs during 3D culture. In the presence or absence of dexamethasone and TGF- β 3, hMSCs were cultured in gelatin solutions with different viscosities, and their viability, proliferation, sGAG production and chondrogenic differentiation were evaluated.

Chapter 4 describes the influence of solution viscosity on simultaneous osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation of hMSCs during 3D culture. The 3D biphasic gelatin solution/hydrogel system was used to culture hMSCs in gelatin solutions with different viscosities with a mixture of osteogenic and adipogenic induction media. Influence of solution viscosity on competing osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation of hMSCs was evaluated.

Chapter 5 provides the conclusions and future perspective.

1.4 References

[1] G. S. Hussey, J. L. Dziki, S. F. Badylak, Extracellular matrix-based materials for regenerative medicine, Nature Reviews Materials 3(7) (2018) 159–173.

[2] D. E. Jaalouk, J. Lammerding, Mechanotransduction gone awry, Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology 10(1) (2009) 63-73.

[3] P. Hou, Y. Li, X. Zhang, C. Liu, J. Guan, H. Li, T. Zhao, J. Ye, W. Yang, K. Liu, Pluripotent stem cells induced from mouse somatic cells by small-molecule compounds, Science 341(6146) (2013) 651-654.

[4] F. Han, C. Zhu, Q. Guo, H. Yang, B. Li, Cellular modulation by the elasticity of biomaterials, Journal of Materials Chemistry B 4(1) (2016) 9-26.

[5] X. Yao, R. Peng, J. D. Ding, Cell-material interactions revealed via material techniques of surface patterning, Advanced Materials 25(37) (2013) 5257-5286.

[6] A. E. Miller, P. Hu, T. H. Barker, Feeling things out: bidirectional signaling of the cell-ECM interface, implications in the mechanobiology of cell spreading, migration, proliferation, and differentiation, Advanced Healthcare Materials 9(8) (2020) e1901445.

[7] G. Chen, T. Ushida, T. Tateishi, A hybrid network of synthetic polymer mesh and collagen sponge, Chemical Communications 2000(16) (2000) 1505-1506.

[8] A. D. Doyle, N. Carvajal, A. Jin, K. Matsumoto, K. M. Yamada, Local 3D matrix microenvironment regulates cell migration through spatiotemporal dynamics of contractility-dependent adhesions, Nature Communications 6 (2015) 8720.

[9] D. E. Discher, D. J. Mooney, P. W. Zandstra, Growth factors, matrices, and forces combine and control stem cells, Science 324(5935) (2009) 1673-1677.

[10] N. Huebsch, E. Lippens, K. Lee, M. Mehta, S. T. Koshy, M. C. Darnell, R. M. Desai, C. M. Madl, M. Xu, X. Zhao, Matrix elasticity of void-forming hydrogels controls transplanted-stem-cell-mediated bone formation, Nature Materials 14(12) (2015) 1269-77.

[11] S. W. Cranford, J. de Boer, C. van Blitterswijk, M. J. Buehler, Materiomics: An *-omics* Approach to Biomaterials Research, Advanced Materials 15(6) (2013) 802-824.

[12] J. Zhu, R. E. Marchant, Design properties of hydrogel tissue-engineering scaffolds, Expert Review of Medical Devices 8(5) (2011) 607-626.

[13] H. Geckil, F. Xu, X. Zhang, S. Moon, U. Demirci, Engineering hydrogels as extracellular matrix mimics, Nanomedicine (London) 5(3) (2010) 469-484.

[14] J. L. Drury, D. J. Mooney, Hydrogels for tissue engineering: scaffold design variables and applications, Biomaterials 24(24) (2003) 4337-4351.

[15] K. Y. Lee, D. J. Mooney, Hydrogels for Tissue Engineering, Chemical Reviews 101(7) (2001) 1869-1880.

[16] O. Chaudhuri, J. Copper-White, P. A. Janmey, D. J. Mooney, V. B. Shenoy, Effects of extracellular matrix viscoelasticity on cellular behaviour 584 (2020) 535-546.

[17] O. Chaudhuri, Viscoelastic hydrogels for 3D cell culture, Biomaterials Science 5(19) (2017) 1480-1490.

[18] P. Lu, K. Takai, V. M. Weaver, Z. Werb, Extracellular matrix degradation and remodeling in development and disease, Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology 3(12) (2011) a005058.

[19] C. Bonnans, J. Chou, Z. Werb, Remodelling the extracellular matrix in development and disease, Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology 15(12) (2014) 786-801.

[20] C. Guillot, T. Lecuit, Mechanics of epithelial tissue homeostasis and morphogenesis, Science 340(6137) (2013) 1185-1189.

[21] L. Davidson, M. V. Dassow, J. Zhou, Multi-scale mechanics from molecules to morphogenesis, International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology 41(11) (2009) 2147-2162.

[22] K. Sugimura, P. F. Lenne, F. Graner, Measuring forces and stresses in situ in living tissues, Development 143 (2016) 186-196.

[23] C. M. Horejs, Biomaterials: Don't stress over it, Nature Review Materials 2(10) (2017).

[24] A. Delalleau, G. Josse, J. M. Lagarde, H. Zahouani, J. M. Bergheau, A nonlinear elastic behavior to identify the mechanical parameters of human skin in vivo, Skin Research and Technology 14(2) (2007) 152-164.

[25] L. A. Mihai, A. Goriely, How to characterize a nonlinear elastic material? A review on nonlinear constitutive parameters in isotropic finite elasticity, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 473(2207) (2017).

[26] L. Bartolini, D. Lannuzzi, G. Mattei, Comparison of frequency and strain-rate domain mechanical characterization, Scientific Reports 8(1) (2018).

[27] V. A. Gorodtsov, D. S. Lisovenko, Extreme values of Young's modulus and Poisson's ratio of hexagonal crystals, Mechanics of Materials 134 (2019) 1-8.

[28] U. Chippada, B. Yurke, N. A. Langrana, Simultaneous determination of Young's modulus, shear modulus, and Poisson's ratio of soft hydrogels, Journal of Materials Research 25(3) (2010) 545-555.

[29] T. Glozman, H. Azhari, A method for characterization of tissue elastic properties combining ultrasonic computed tomography with elastography, Journal of Ultrasound in Medicine 29(3) (2010) 387-398.

[30] M. Castilho, G. Hochleitner, W. Wilson, B. V. Rietbergen, P. D. Dalton, J. Groll, J. Malda, K. Ito, Mechanical behavior of a soft hydrogel reinforced with three-dimensional printed microfibre scaffolds, Scientific Reports 8(1) (2018).

[31] B. Trappmann, C. S. Chen, How cells sense extracellular matrix stiffness: a material's perspective,

Current Opinion in Biotechnology 24(5) (2013) 948-953.

[32] I. A. Janson, A. J. Putnam, Extracellular matrix elasticity and topography: material-based cues that affect cell function via conserved mechanisms, Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part A 103(3) (2015) 1246-1258.

[33] Q. Xu, C. Li, Y. Kang, Y. Zhang, Long term effects of substrate stiffness on the development of hMSC mechanical properties, RSC Advances 5 (2015) 105651-105660.

[34] A. Buxboim, I. L. Ivanovska, D. E. Discher, Matrix elasticity, cytoskeletal forces and physics of the nucleus: how deeply do cells 'feel' outside and in?, Journal of Cell Science 123 (2010) 297-308.

[35] C. Storm, J. J. Pastore, F. C. MacKintosh, T. C. Lubensky, P. A. Janmey, Nonlinear elasticity in biological gels, Nature 435 (2005) 191-194.

[36] R. E. Shadwick, Mechanical design in arteries, Journal of Experimental Biology 202 (1999) 3305-3313.

[37] E. Mazza, O. Papes, M. B. Rubin, S. R. Bodner, N. S. Binur, Nonlinear elastic-viscoplastic constitutive equations for aging facial tissues, Biomechanics and Modeling in Mechanobiology 4(2-3) (2005) 178-189.

[38] C. Muller, A. Muller, T. Pompe, Dissipative interactions in cell-matrix adhesion, Soft Matter 9 (2013) 6207-6216.

[39] K. A. Jansen, P. Atherton, C. Ballestrem, Mechanotransduction at the cell-matrix interface, Seminars in Cell and Developmental Biology 71 (2017) 75-83.

[40] K. Dey, S. Agnelli, L. Sartore, Dynamic freedom: substrate stress relaxation stimulates cell responses, Research in Medical & Engineering Sciences 7(3) (2019) 836-842.

[41] M. Cantini, H. Donnelly, M. J. Dalby, M. Salmeron-Sanchez, The Plot Thickens: The Emerging Role of Matrix Viscosity in Cell Mechanotransduction, Advanced Healthcare Materials 9(8) (2020) 1901259.

[42] A. R. Cameron, J. E. Frith, J. J. Cooper-White, The influence of substrate creep on mesenchymal stem cell behaviour and phenotype, Biomaterials 32(26) (2011) 5979-5993.

[43] D. Calvet, J. Y. Wong, S. Giasson, Rheological Monitoring of Polyacrylamide Gelation: Importance of Cross-Link Density and Temperature, Macromolecules 37(20) (2004) 7762-7771.

[44] R. Oftadeh, B. Connizzo, H. Nia, C. Ortiz, Biological connective tissues exhibit viscoelastic and poroelastic behavior at different frequency regimes: Application to tendon and skin biophysics, Acta Biomaterialia 70 (2018) 249-259.

[45] S. Nam, J. Lee, D. G. Brownfield, O. Chaudhuri, Viscoplasticity Enables Mechanical Remodeling of Matrix by Cells, Biophysical Journal 111(10) (2016) 2296-2308.

[46] O. Chaudhuri, L. Gu, M. Darnell, D. Klumpers, S. A. Bencherif, J. C. Weaver, N. Huebsch, D. J. Mooney, Substrate stress relaxation regulates cell spreading, Nature Communications 6 (2015) 6364.

[47] R. Kocen, M. Gasik, A. Gantar, S. Novak, Viscoelastic behaviour of hydrogel-based composites for tissue engineering under mechanical load, Biomedical Materials 12(2) (2017) 025004.

[48] A. R. Cameron, J. E. Frith, G. A. Gomez, A. S. Yap, J. J. Copper-White, The effect of time-dependent deformation of viscoelastic hydrogels on myogenic induction and Rac1 activity in mesenchymal stem cells, Biomaterials 35(6) (2014) 1857-1868.

[49] K. M. Schultz, K. A. Kyburz, K. S. Anseth, Measuring dynamic cell-material interactions and remodeling during 3D human mesenchymal stem cell migration in hydrogels, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 112(29) (2015) 3757-3764.

[50] H. T. Banks, A brief review of some approaches to hysteresis in viscoelastic polymers, Nonlinear Analysis: Theory, Methods & Applications 69(3) (2008) 807-815.

[51] B. M. Gillette, J. A. Jensen, M. Wang, J. Tchao, S. K. Sia, Dynamic hydrogels: switching of 3D microenvironments using two-component naturally derived extracellular matrices, Advanced Materials 22(6) (2010) 686-691.

[52] O. Chaudhuri, L. Gu, D. Klumpers, M. Darnell, S. A. Bencherif, J. C. Weaver, N. Huebsch, H. P. Lee, E. lippens, G. N. Duda, D. J. Mooney, Hydrogels with tunable stress relaxation regulate stem cell fate and activity, Nature Materials 15(3) (2016) 326-334.

[53] W. Yuan, J. Yang, P. Kopeckova, J. Kopecek, Smart hydrogels containing adenylate kinase: translating substrate recognition into macroscopic motion, Journal of the American Chemical Society 130(47) (2008) 15760-15761.

[54] D. D. McKinnon, D. W. Domaille, J. N. Cha, K. S. Anseth, Biophysically defined and cytocompatible covalently adaptable networks as viscoelastic 3D cell culture systems, Advanced Materials 26(6) (2014) 865-872.

[55] L. Bian, J. V. Fong, E. G. Lima, A. M. Stoker, G. A. Ateshian, J. L. Cook, C. T. Hung, Dynamic mechanical loading enhances functional properties of tissue-engineered cartilage using mature canine chondrocytes, Tissue Engineering Part A 16(5) (2010) 1781-1790.

[56] H. Liu, J. Usprech, Y. Sun, C. A. Simmons, A microfabricated platform with hydrogel arrays for 3D mechanical stimulation of cells, Acta Biomaterialia 34 (2016) 113-124.

[57] N. Kong, Q. Peng, H. Li, Rationally designed dynamic protein hydrogels with reversibly tunable mechanical properties, Advanced Functional Materials 24(46) (2014) 7310-7317.

[58] S. Hackelbusch, T. Rossow, D. Steinhilber, D. A. Weitz, S. Seiffert, Hybrid microgels with thermo-tunable elasticity for controllable cell confinement, Advanced Healthcare Materials 4(12) (2015) 1841-1848.

[59] H. Shih, C. C. Lin, Functionalised type-I collagen as a hydrogel building block for bio-orthogonal tissue engineering applications, Journal of Materials Chemistry B 4(2) (2016) 318-326.

[60] J. K. Choi, P. Agarwal, H. Huang, S. Zhao, X. He, The crucial role of mechanical heterogeneity in regulating follicle development and ovulation with engineered ovarian microtissue, Biomaterials 35(19) (2014) 5122-5128.

[61] X. Li, Y. Chen, N. Kawazoe, G. Chen, Influence of microporous gelatin hydrogels on chondrocyte functions, Journal of Materials Chemistry B 5(29) (2017) 5753-5762.

[62] K. Chatterjee, S. Lin-Gibson, W. E. Wallace, S. H. Parekh, Y. J. Lee, M. T. Cicerone, M. F. Young, C. G. Simon, The effect of 3D hydrogel scaffold modulus on osteoblast differentiation and mineralization revealed by combinatorial screening, Biomaterials 31(19) (2010) 5051-5062.

[63] M. Guvendiren, J. A. Burdick, Stiffening hydrogels to probe short- and long-term cellular responses to dynamic mechanics, Nature Communications 3(1) (2012) 792.

[64] S. H. Oh, D. B. An, T. H. Kim, J. H. Lee, Wide-range stiffness gradient PVA/HA hydrogel to investigate stem cell differentiation behavior, Acta Biomaterialia 35 (2016) 23-31.

[65] K. M. Mabry, R. L. Lawrence, K. S. Anseth, Dynamic stiffening of poly(ethylene glycol)-based hydrogels to direct valvular interstitial cell phenotype in a three-dimensional environment, Biomaterials 49 (2015) 47-56.

[66] C. T. S. W. P. Foo, J. S. Lee, W. Mulyasasmita, A. Parisi-Amon, S. C. Heilshorn, Two-component protein-engineered physical hydrogels for cell encapsulation, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 106(52) (2009) 22067-22072.

[67] F. Ito, K. Usui, D. Kawahara, A. Suenaga, T. Maki, S. Kidoaki, H. Suzuki, M. Taiji, M. Itoh, Y. Hayashizaki, T. Matsuda, Reversible hydrogel formation driven by protein-peptide-specific interaction and chondrocyte entrapment, Biomaterials 31(1) (2010) 58-66.

[68] R. Tamate, T. Ueki, Y. Kitazawa, M. Kuzunuki, M. Watanabe, A. M. Akimoto, R. Yoshida, Photo-dimerization induced dynamic viscoelastic changes in ABA triblock copolymer-based hydrogels for 3D cell culture, Chemistry of Materials 28(17) (2016) 6401-6408.

[69] E. E. Charrier, K. pogoda, R. Li, C. Y. Park, J. J. Fredberg, P. A. Janmey, A novel method to make viscoelastic polyacrylamide gels for cell culture and traction force microscopy, APL Bioengineering 4 (2020) 036104.

[70] K. Lee, Y. Chen, X. Li, Y. Wang, N. Kawazoe, Y. Yang, G. Chen, Solution viscosity regulates chondrocyte proliferation and phenotype during 3D culture, Journal of Materials Chemistry B 7(48) (2019) 7713-7722.

[71] K. Lee, Y. Chen, X. Li, N. Kawazoe, Y. Yang, G. Chen, Influence of viscosity on chondrogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells during 3D culture in viscous gelatin solution-embedded hydrogels (2020) In press, corrected Proof.

[72] K. Lee, Y. Chen, T. Yoshitomi, N. Kawazoe, Y. Yang, G. Chen, Osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells in gelatin solutions of different viscosities, Advanced Healthcare Materials (2020) 2000617.

[73] D. E. Discher, P. Janmey, Y. L. Wang, Tissue cells feel and respond to the stiffness of their substrate, Science 310(5751) (2005) 1139-1143.

[74] C. C. DuFort, M. J. Paszek, V. M. Weaver, Balancing forces: architectural control of mechanotransduction, Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology 12 (2011) 308-319.

[75] V. Vogel, M. Sheetz, Local force and geometry sensing regulate cell functions, Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology 7(4) (2006) 265-275.

[76] R. J. Pelham Jr, Y. L. Wang, Cell locomotion and focal adhesions are regulated by substrate flexibility, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 94(25) (1997) 13661-13665.

[77] R. A. Marklein, D. E. Soranno, J. A. Burdick, Magnitude and presentation of mechanical signals influence adult stem cell behavior in 3-dimensional macroporous hydrogels, Soft Matter 8(31) (2012) 8113-8120.

[78] S. J. Bryant, R. J. Bender, K. L. Durand, K. S. Anseth, Encapsulating chondrocytes in degrading PEG hydrogels with high modulus: engineering gel structural changes to facilitate cartilaginous tissue production, Biotechnology and Bioengineering 86(7) (2004) 747-755.

[79] W. S. Toh, T. C. Lim, M. Kurisawa, M. Spector, Modulation of mesenchymal stem cell chondrogenesis in a tunable hyaluronic acid hydrogel microenvironment, Biomaterials 33(15) (2012) 3835-3845.

[80] X. Li, J. Zhang, N. Kawazoe, G. Chen, Fabrication of highly crosslinked gelatin hydrogel and its influence on chondrocyte proliferation and phenotype, Polymers 9(8) (2017) 309.

[81] N. S. Hwang, S. Varghese, J. Elisseeff, Controlled differentiation of stem cells, Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews 60(2) (2008) 199-214.

[82] F. Gattazzo, A. Urciuolo, P. Bonaldo, Extracellular matrix: a dynamic microenvironment for stem cell niche, Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1840(8) (2014) 2506-2519.

[83] M. M. Nava, M. T. Raimondi, R. Pietrabissa, Controlling self-renewal and differentiation of stem cells via mechanical cues, Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology 2012 (2012) 797410.

[84] P. Wang, W. Tsai, N. H. Voelcker, Screening of rat mesenchymal stem cell behaviour on polydimethylsiloxane stiffness gradients, Acta Biomaterialia 8(2) (2012) 519-530.

[85] A. Higuchi, Q. D. Ling, Y. Chang, S. T. Hsu, A. Umezawa, Physical cues of biomaterials guide stem cell differentiation fate, Chemical Reviews 113(5) (2013) 3297-328.

[86] O. A. Lozoya, E. Wauthier, R. A. Turner, C. Barbier, G. D. Prestwich, F. Guilak, R. Superfine, S. R. Lubkin, L. M. Reid, Regulation of hepatic stem/progenitor phenotype by microenvironment stiffness in hydrogel models of the human liver stem cell niche, Biomaterials 32(30) (2011) 7389-7402.

[87] W. S. Toh, T. C. Lim, M. Kurisawa, M. Spector, Modulation of mesenchymal stem cell chondrogenesis

in a tunable hyaluronic acid hydrogel microenvironment, Biomaterials 33(15) (2012) 3835-3845.

[88] F. Li, X. Zhao, Y. Ma, Y. Li, M. Lin, G. Jin, T. J. Lu, G. M. Genin, F. Xu, Functional and Biomimetic Materials for Engineering of the Three-Dimensional Cell Microenvironment, Chemical Reviews 117(20) (2017) 12764-12850.

[89] T. C. Lim, W. S. Toh, L. S. Wang, M. Kurisawa, M. Spector, The effect of injectable gelatin-hydroxyphenylpropionic acid hydrogel matrices on the proliferation, migration, differentiation and oxidative stress resistance of adult neural stem cells, Biomaterials 33(12) (2012) 3446-3455.

[90] K. Xu, K. Narayanan, F. Lee, K. H. Bae, S. Gao, M. Kurisawa, Enzyme-mediated hyaluronic acid-tyramine hydrogels for the propagation of human embryonic stem cells in 3D, Acta Biomaterialia 24 (2015) 159-171.

[91] C. A. Mullen, T. J. Vaughanm K. L. Billiar, L. M. McNamara, The Effect of Substrate Stiffness, Thickness, and Cross-Linking Density on Osteogenic Cell Behavior, Biophysical Journal 108(7) (2015) 1604-1612.

[92] L. G. Vincent, Y. S. Choi, B. Alonso-Latorre, J. C. del Álamo, A. J. Engler, Mesenchymal stem cell durotaxis depends on substrate stiffness gradient strength, Biotechnology Journal 8(4) (2013) 472-484.

[93] A. J. Engler, S. Sen, H. L. Sweeney, D. E. Discher, Matrix elasticity directs stem cell lineage specification, Cell 126(4) (2006) 677-689.

[94] R. McBeath, D. M. Pirone, C. M. Nelson, K. Bhadriraju, C. S. Chen, Cell shape, cytoskeletal tension, and RhoA regulate stem cell lineage commitment, Developmental Cell 6(4) (2004) 483-495.

[95] E. Santos, R. M. Hernández, J. L. Pedraz, G. Orive, Novel advances in the design of three-dimensional bio-scaffolds to control cell fate: translation from 2D to 3D, Trends in Biotechnology 30(6) (2012) 331-341.

[96] N. Huebsch, P. R. Arany, A. S. Mao, D. Shvartsman, O. A. Ali, S. A. Bencherif, J. Rivera-Feliciano, D. J. Mooney, Harnessing traction-mediated manipulation of the cell/matrix interface to control stem-cell fate, Nature Materials 9 (2010) 518-526.

[97] G. Jiang, A. H. Huang, Y. Cai, M. Tanase, M. P. Sheetz, Rigidity sensing at the leading edge through alphavbeta3 integrins and RPTPalpha, Biophysical Journal 90(5) (2006) 1804-1809.

[98] X. Li, S. Chen, J. Li, X. Wang, J. Zhang, N. Kawazoe, G. Chen, 3D culture of chondrocytes in gelatin hydrogels with different stiffness, Polymer 8(8) (2016) 269.

[99] W. Schuurman, P. A. Levett, M. W. Pot, P. R. van Weeren, W. J. Dhert, D. W. Hutmacher, F. P. Melchels, T. J. Klein, J. Malda, Gelatin-methacrylamide hydrogels as potential biomaterials for fabrication of tissue-engineered cartilage constructs, Macromolecular Bioscience 13(5) (2013) 551-561.

[100] C. Chung, B. L. Pruitt, S. C. Heilshorn, Spontaneous cardiomyocyte differentiation of mouse embryoid bodies regulated by hydrogel crosslink density, Biomaterials Science 1(10) (2013) 1082-1090.

[101] W. T. Hsieh, Y. S. Liu, Y. H. Lee, M. G. Rimando, K. H. Lin, O. K. Lee, Matrix dimensionality and stiffness cooperatively regulate osteogenesis of mesenchymal stromal cells, Acta Biomaterialia 32 (2016) 210-222.

[102] L. S. Wang, J. E. Chung, P. P. Y. Chan, M. Kurisawa, Injectable biodegradable hydrogels with tunable mechanical properties for the stimulation of neurogenesic differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells in 3D culture, Biomaterials 31(6) (2010) 1148-1157.

[103] L. S. Wang, C. Du, J. E. Chung, M. Kurisawa, Enzymatically cross-linked gelatin-phenol hydrogels with a broader stiffness range for osteogenic differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells, Acta Biomaterialia 8(5) (2012) 1826-1837.

[104] L. S. Wang, C. Du, W. S. Toh, A. C. Wan, S. J. Gao, M. Kurisawa, Modulation of chondrocyte functions and stiffness-dependent cartilage repair using an injectable enzymatically crosslinked hydrogel with tunable mechanical properties, Biomaterials 35(7) (2014) 2207-2217.

[105] Z. Li, X. Guo, S. Matsushita, J. Guan, Differentiation of cardiosphere-derived cells into a mature cardiac lineage using biodegradable poly(N-isopropylacrylamide) hydrogels, Biomaterials 32(12) (2011) 3220-3232.

[106] S. Q. Liu, Q. Tian, J. L. Hedrick, J. H. P. Hui, P. L. R. Ee, Y. Y. Yang, Biomimetic hydrogels for chondrogenic differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells to neocartilage, Biomaterials 31(28) (2010) 7298-7307.

[107] Y. S. Pek, A. C. Wan, J. Y. Ying, The effect of matrix stiffness on mesenchymal stem cell differentiation in a 3D thixotropic gel, Biomaterials 31(3) (2010) 385-391.

[108] R. Stowers, S. C. Allen, L. J. Suggs, Dynamic phototuning of 3D hydrogel stiffness, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 112(7) (2015) 1953-1958.

[109] H. Kim, H. Jeong, S. Han, S. Beack, B. W. Hwang, M. Shin, S. S. Oh, S. K. Hahn, Hyaluronate and its derivatives for customized biomedical applications, Biomaterials 123 (2017) 155-171.

[110] R. J. Wade, J. A. Burdick, Engineering ECM signals into biomaterials, Materialstoday 15(10) (2012) 454-459.

[111] C. B. Cunha, D. D. Klumpers, W. A. Li, S. T. Koshy, J. C. Weaver, O. Chaudhuri, P. L. Granja, D. J. Mooney, Influence of the stiffness of three-dimensional alginate/collagen-I interpenetrating networks on fibroblast biology, Biomaterials 35(32) (2014) 8927-8936.

[112] C. Storm, J. J. Pastore, F. C. MacKintosh, T. C. Lubensky, P. A. Janmey, Nonlinear elasticity in biological gels, Nature 435 (2005) 191-194.

[113] Q. Wen, P. A. Janmey, Effects of nonlinearity on cell-ECM interactions, Experimental Cell Research 319(16) (2013) 2481-2489.

[114] R. J. Petrie, N. Gavara, R. S. Chadwick, K. M. Yamada, Nonpolarized signaling reveals two distinct modes of 3D cell migration, Journal of Cell Biology 197(3) (2012) 439-455.

[115] B. H. Ji, B. Huo, Probing the mechanosensitivity in cell adhesion and migration: experiments and modeling, Acta Mechanica Sinica 29 (2013) 469-484.

[116] R. J. Petrie, K. M. Yamada, At the leading edge of three-dimensional cell migration, Journal of Cell Science 125 (2012) 5917-5926.

[117] R. K. Das, V. Gocheva, R. Hammink, O. F. Zouani, A. E. Rowan, Stress-stiffening-mediated stem-cell commitment switch in soft responsive hydrogels, Nature Materials 15 (2016) 318-325.

[118] J. Chen, K. Wright, M. Birch, Nanoscale viscoelastic properties and adhesion of polydimethylsiloxane for tissue engineering, Acta Mechanica Sinica 30 (2014) 2-6.

[119] I. A. Marozas, J. J. Cooper-White, K. S. Anseth, Photo-induced viscoelasticity in cytocompatible hydrogel substrates, New Journal of Physics 21(2019) (2019).

[120] H. P. Lee, L. Gu, D. J. Mooney, Mechanical confinement regulates cartilage matrix formation by chondrocytes, Nature Materials 16 (2017) 1243-1251.

[121] A. Bauer, L. Gu, B. Kwee, A. Li, M. Dellacherie, A. D. Celiz, D. J. Mooney, Hydrogel substrate stress-relaxation regulates the spreading and proliferation of mouse myoblasts, Acta Biomaterialia 62 (2017) 82-90.

[122] X. Zhao, N. Huebsch, D. J. Mooney, Z. Suo, Stress-relaxation behavior in gels with ionic and covalent crosslinks, Journal of Applied Physics 107(6) (2010) 063509.

[123] E. E. Charrier, K. Pogoda, R. G. Wells, P. A. Janmey, Control of cell morphology and differentiation by substrates with independently tunable elasticity and viscous dissipation, Nature Communications 6 (2018)

[124] M. Bennett, M. Cantini, J. Reboud, J. M. Cooper, R. Roca-Cusachs, M. Salmeron-Sanchez, Molecular clutch drives cell response to surface viscosity, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 115(6) (2018) 1192-1197.

Chapter 2

Solution viscosity regulates chondrocyte proliferation and phenotype during 3D culture

2.1 Abstract

Cells are surrounded by an extracellular matrix (ECM), which controls cellular functions through biological or physicochemical cues. In particular, cartilage tissues have abundant ECM that is viscoelastic and provides the necessary signals for the maintenance of chondrocyte activity and metabolism. The influence of ECM stiffness on chondrocyte functions has been broadly investigated using elastic hydrogels. However, it is not clear how viscosity impacts chondrocyte functions. In this part, a biphasic gelatin solution/hydrogel system was established for the three-dimensional culture of bovine articular chondrocytes (BACs) to investigate the influence of gelatin solution viscosity on chondrocyte proliferation, ECM secretion and the maintenance of the chondrocyte phenotype. Gelatin solutions of different viscosities supported chondrocyte proliferation and ECM production. However, the cell morphology, proliferation rate, secreted ECM quantity and gene expression levels were different, and these were dependent on the viscosity of the gelatin solutions. Low-viscosity solutions were more beneficial for proliferation, while high-viscosity solutions were more beneficial for ECM production and the expression of collagen type II and aggrecan. Chondrocytes had a more spread morphology in a low-viscosity gelatin solution than in a high-viscosity gelatin solution. The results suggested that high-viscosity was more beneficial for the maintenance of the chondrocyte phenotype, while low viscosity was more beneficial for cell expansion. Viscosity was demonstrated as one of the key parameters affecting cell morphology, proliferation and phenotype.

2.2 Introduction

Cells in each tissue and organ are surrounded by their respective microenvironment, which have different biological and physicochemical properties [1-4]. Cells sense and respond to changes in their microenvironment to maintain their metastatic activities and phenotypes [5, 6]. In addition to biological factors, in recent years, the mechanical properties of the extracellular matrix (ECM) have attracted broad attention because they have significant modulatory effects on cell functions [7-12]. Many studies have reported the correlation of stiffness and viscoelastic properties with cell functions such as cell adhesion, morphology, mobility, self-renewal, proliferation and differentiation [13-22]. Various types of cells have

been cultured on two-dimensional (2D) surfaces or in three-dimensional (3D) hydrogel matrices to elucidate the interaction of cells with matrices of different stiffness and viscoelasticity [23-27].

Although matrix stiffness and viscoelastic properties have been widely studied to reveal their influences on cell functions, the effects of the viscous properties of matrices on cell functions have remained elusive due to the difficulty of culturing cells in viscous liquids in 3D. Hydrogels and elastomers used for cell cultures are viscoelastic, making it difficult to separate the impact of elasticity and viscous properties on cell functions. Recently, some efforts have been made to discriminate the impact of viscous properties from that of other mechanical properties of matrices [14, 28, 29]. Soft viscoelastic polyacrylamide (PAA) hydrogels with tunable elasticity and viscous dissipation have been reported to separate the viscosity influence from other factors [28]. In this report, high molecular weight linear PAA molecules were sterically entrapped without covalent bonding in covalently crosslinked networks of PAA to prepare soft viscoelastic hydrogels with the same permanent elastic modulus but with different viscous moduli. The viscous linear PAA reduced the probability of cell differentiation and facilitated the re-acquisition of an undifferentiated phenotype [28]. Another recent study reported the culture of human primary epidermal keratinocytes and human mesenchymal stem cells at the liquid-liquid interface [30]. Stem cell spreading, cytoskeletal organization and cell proliferation and fate were predominantly dependent on the mechanical properties of the liquid-liquid interface, rather than the bulk mechanical properties of the substrates [30]. Furthermore, the response of murine myoblasts to lipid bilayers of different viscosities has been reported [31]. The lipid bilayers were formed on glass surfaces by using different lipids with different diffusion coefficients but the same functionalized RGD ligands. The cell spreading area increased while the circularity decreased with increasing viscosity. The influence of the lipid viscosity on cell morphology was interpreted according to the mobility if RGD ligands were present in the lipid bilayers because surface mobility has a significant impact on cell functions [30]. Liver cancer cell lines have been cultured on solid-liquid interfaces of extracellular fluids of various viscosities [31]. High viscosity was shown to be beneficial for integrin-based cell adhesion, cell migration and the loss of cluster cohesiveness. Extracellular fluid viscosity was able to interfere with the cell response to ECM stiffness [31].

The above-mentioned studies on the influence of viscosity on cell functions have been conducted on the surfaces or interfaces with substrates. The influence of the bulk 3D matrix viscosity on cell functions remains unknown because there are no good 3D culture systems or materials that can be used to mimic the cellular microenvironment used for investigation. Furthermore, 2D conditions cannot reflect 3D conditions. In some cases, the mechanical properties of interfaces (2D) and bulk materials (3D) have been shown to influence cell behaviors differently [30]. Considering the viscoelastic 3D microenvironment surrounding cells *in vivo*, it is desirable to reveal the role of bulk matrix viscosity on cell functions.

Therefore, in this part, a biphasic hydrogel system consisting of an inner solution phase and an embedding hydrogel phase was prepared by embedding a gelatin viscous solution on gelatin hydrogels. The system was used for the 3D culture of chondrocytes to investigate the effect on chondrocytes of bulk matrix viscosity. The gelatin hydrogels were able to block the migration of cells and confine the cells within the viscous gelatin solutions, which could mimic the viscous 3D *in vivo* microenvironment of tissues and organs. The same matrix material, gelatin, was used to ensure that the two phases had the same chemical properties to avoid the effects of matrix differences on cell functions. Viscosity had an evident influence on the cell morphology and proliferation, ECM production and the phenotype of chondrocytes.

2.3 Materials and methods

2.3.1 Synthesis of gelatin methacryloyl (GelMA)

GelMA was synthesized by the reaction of gelatin with methacrylic anhydride [32]. Porcine skin gelatin (type A, 300 bloom, Sigma-Aldrich, USA) was dissolved at 10% (w/v) in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) at 50 °C. Methacrylic anhydride (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) was added dropwise to the gelatin solution at a rate of 0.5 mL minute⁻¹ under vigorous stirring at 50 °C and allowed to react in the dark for 3 hours. After a five-fold dilution in warm (40 °C) PBS to stop the reaction, the mixture was dialyzed against Milli-Q water using a dialysis tube (12-14 kDa molecular weight cut-off, Spectrum Laboratories Inc. USA) in the dark for 7 days, during which the water was changed 3 times every day at 40 °C to remove the salts, free methacrylic anhydride and methacrylic acid. The dialyzed solution was lyophilized in the dark for 7 days to obtain the GelMA powder and stored at -30 °C for subsequent experiments.

2.3.2 ¹H-nuclear magnetic resonance (¹H-NMR)

The chemical structures of pristine gelatin and GelMA were characterized by ¹H-NMR (AL300; JEOL, Tokyo, Japan) with a single axis gradient inverse probe at a frequency of 300 MHz according to a previously described method [32]. Twenty milligrams of pristine gelatin and GelMA were completely dissolved in 1 mL deuterium oxide containing 0.05% (w/v) 3-(trimethylsilyl)-propionic-2,2,3,3,-d4 acid sodium salt (Sigma-Aldrich, USA).

2.3.3 Measurements of viscosity of gelatin solution and stiffness of gelatin hydrogels

The viscosity and gel-to-sol phase transition temperature of the gelatin aqueous solutions were measured using a MCR 301 rheometer (Anton Paar, Germany). The gelatin powder (porcine, type A, 300 bloom, Sigma-Aldrich, USA) was sterilized in an autoclave at 121 °C for 15 min and the sterile gelatin powder was dissolved in high-glucose Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium (H-DMEM, D6546; Sigma-Aldrich, USA) at 50 °C to prepare a gelatin solution (15% (w/v)). The diluted gelatin solutions (5 and 10% (w/v)) were prepared by diluting the 15% (w/v) gelatin solution with H-DMEM at 50 °C. For the rheological measurements, the gelatin solutions were placed between two parallel PP-50 plates with a gap distance of 0.1 mm. The rotational shear experiment was performed at a fixed temperature (37 °C) with a controlled shear rate from 0.1 S⁻¹ to 1000 S⁻¹. To measure the sol-to-gel transition temperature, an oscillatory dynamic experiment was performed at a fixed amplitude (g = 5%) and frequency (1 Hz) under a controlled temperature sweep from 25 °C to 37 °C at a heating rate of 0.15 °C per minute. The gel-to-sol phase transition temperatures were determined according to the intersection of the storage modulus (G') and the loss modulus (G').

The stiffness of gelatin hydrogels was measured by atomic force microscopy (AFM, MFP-3D-Bio; Asylum Research, Santa Barbara, CA, USA). The GelMA hydrogels were prepared by the UV exposure of the sterile GelMA precursor solution. The hydrogels were incubated in PBS at 37 °C overnight and then measured at room temperature. An optical microscope was used to observe hydrogels and control the position of the AFM tip. A silicon nitride cantilever (Bruker, Camarillo, CA, USA) with a 600 nm diameter glass ball was used as the probe. The exact spring constant was measured before each experiment using a

thermal tuning method. The force curves were obtained and fitted to the Hertz's contact model to calculate the Young's modulus [33]. Three different areas in each of three samples were measured for the calculation of the means and standard deviations (n = 3).

2.3.4 Isolation and subculture of chondrocytes

The isolation of bovine articular chondrocytes (BACs) from the knees of a 9 week-old calf was conducted according to a previously reported protocol [33]. The articular cartilage biopsy tissues were minced into small pieces using a sterile surgical scalpel and digested at 37 °C for 24 hours in H-DMEM containing 0.2% (w/v) collagenase type II (Worthington Biochemical, Lakewood, NJ, USA) with shaking. After digestion, the solution was filtered through a 70 mm nylon filter to remove the undigested biopsy tissue. The isolated primary chondrocytes were harvested by centrifugation and cultured in 75 cm₂ tissue culture flasks in H-DMEM supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, 4500 mg L⁻¹ glucose, 100 U mL⁻¹ penicillin, 4 mM glutamine, 1 mM sodium pyruvate, 0.4 mM proline, 100 mg mL⁻¹ streptomycin, 0.1 mM nonessential amino acids and 50 mg mL⁻¹ ascorbic acid at 37 °C in 5% CO₂. The cell culture medium was refreshed every 3 days. The chondrocytes were subcultured twice (P2 cells) and then used in the following experiments.

2.3.5 Preparation of chondrocyte-laden gelatin hydrogel microcubes

Chondrocytes were mixed with 5, 10 and 15% (w/v) gelatin solutions and the cell concentration was adjusted to 4×10^7 cells per mL. The cell suspensions were poured into a silicone frame with a 5 cm \times 5 cm \times 300 mm (height) space, which was placed on a perfluoroalkoxy (PFA) film-covered copper plate at 37 °C and then a glass plate was placed on the silicone frame to flatten the solution. The construct was cooled at 4 °C for 30 minutes to form cell-laden gelatin hydrogel sheets. The cell-laden gelatin hydrogel sheets were transferred onto a nylon mesh with a mesh opening size of 250×250 mm (AS ONE, Japan) and then gently pressed with a steel spatula to cut them into cube-shaped microgels (microcubes). The cell-laden gelatin hydrogel microcubes were used for the following experiments. All the materials were sterilized before use and the experiments were conducted in a clean bench.

2.3.6 Preparation of GelMA hydrogels loaded with cell-laden gelatin hydrogel microcubes

The GelMA precursor solution was prepared by dissolving the GelMA macromer (10% (w/v)) and the photoinitiator, 2-hydroxy- 1-(4-(hydroxyethoxy)phenyl)-2-methyl-1-propanone (0.5% (w/v)) (I 2959, Sigma-Aldrich, USA), in PBS at 50 °C in the dark. The GelMA/photo-initiator solution was sterilized using a 0.22 mm pore-size syringe filter and then cooled down to 34 °C (GelMA was in a liquid state at this temperature) using a water bath in the dark for 1 hour. The GelMA/photo-initiator solution was mixed with the cell-laden gelatin hydrogel microcubes prepared earlier with microcubes and solution in the ratio of 1 : 2 (w/v). At 34 °C, the cell-laden gelatin microcubes remained as hydrogels without dissolving. The mixture was poured into a silicone frame with a 5 cm × 5 cm × 2 mm (height) space, which was placed on a Teflon plate and then a quartz plate was placed on the silicone frame. The construct was irradiated with UV light at 365 nm using a CL-1000 UV crosslinker (Funakoshi Co., Ltd, Japan) at a distance of 20 cm for 5 minutes. After UV-initiated crosslinking, the hydrogel sheet was punched into discs using a 6 mm biopsy punch (Acu-Punch, Acuderm Inc., Fort Lauderdale, FL, USA). As a control, cell-laden GelMA hydrogels were prepared by UV exposure of a mixture of sterile GelMA precursor solution and chondrocytes by using the

same procedures. All the samples were cultured in H-DMEM in an atmosphere of 5% $\rm CO_2$ at 37 °C with shaking.

2.3.7 Evaluation of cell proliferation and sulfated glycosaminoglycan (sGAG) production

The proliferation of chondrocytes in each of the samples was evaluated by quantifying the amount of DNA. After being cultured for 3 hours, 7, 14 and 21 days, the samples were washed twice with PBS, freeze-dried and then digested by papain solution at 60 °C for 6 hours with shaking. Papain powder (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) was dissolved at a concentration of 400 mg mL⁻¹ in sterile 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 6.0) with 5 mM L-cysteine hydrochloride monohydrate (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) and 5 mM ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid disodium salt dihydrate (EDTA-2Na, Sigma-Aldrich, USA). An aliquot of the papain-digested solution was mixed with bisbenzimide (Hoechst 33258) solution (Sigma-Aldrich, USA). Next, the fluorescence intensity was measured using an FP-8500 spectrofluorometer (JASCO, Tokyo, Japan) at an excitation wavelength of 360 nm and an emission wavelength of 460 nm. The fluorescence values were used to calculate the DNA amount based on a standard curve. The sGAG content was measured by using a BlyscanTM Glycosaminoglycan Assay Kit (Biocolor, UK) according to a standard curve obtained from the sGAG standard supplied with the kit. All four samples were used for the analysis (n = 4).

2.3.8 Actin filament and cell nuclei staining

The samples were cultured for 1, 7, 14 and 21 days and were used for staining. The samples were washed with PBS twice and fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde-phosphate buffer solution (Wako, Japan) at 4 °C for 24 hours. After being washed with PBS twice, the samples were immersed in PBS containing 0.2% Triton X-100 (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) for permeabilization of the cell membrane for 50 minutes at room temperature and then blocked with 1% bovine serum albumin (Wako, Japan) solution for 30 minutes at room temperature. Next, the samples were immersed in PBS containing 2.5% Alexa FluorVR 488 phalloidin (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA) for 1 hour to stain the actin filaments and then placed in PBS containing 0.1% 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole dihydrochloride (DAPI, Dojindo Laboratories, Japan) to stain the cell nuclei for 10 minutes at room temperature. After washing with PBS, the stained samples were cut in a vertical direction, and the inner side of each sample was observed with a confocal laser scanning microscope.

2.3.9 Real-time polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) analysis

After being cultured for 21 days, each of the samples was washed twice with PBS. The samples were frozen in liquid nitrogen and crushed into powder using an electric crusher. The powder samples were dissolved in Sepasol RNA I Super G (1 mL per sample; Nacalai Tesque, Kyoto, Japan) to isolate the RNA. The RNA concentrations of each of the samples were measured and adjusted to almost the same concentration by adding nuclease-free water (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA). Next, polymerase chain reaction (PCR) using a First-Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (Applied Biosystems, USA) was conducted to transcribe the RNA extracted from each sample into cDNA. RT-PCR was used to amplify glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH), Col1a2 (collagen type I), Col2a1 (collagen type II) and Acan (aggrecan) using a 7500 RT-PCR System (Applied Biosystems, USA). The expression level of GAPDH, a housekeeping gene, was used as an endogenous control, and the target gene expression relative to that of GAPDH was quantified with a $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method. Chondrocytes cultured for 21 days in a GelMA hydrogel

loaded with cell-laden gelatin hydrogel microcubes of low-viscosity gelatin solution were used as a reference and the expression levels of each gene were normalized to 1. The primer and probe sequences were as follows [34]: GAPDH, forward primer, 5'-GCATCGTGGAGGGACTTATGA-3', reverse primer, 5'-GGGCCATCCACAGTCTTCTG-3', probe, 5'-CACTGTCCACGCCATCACTGCCA-3'; collagen type I, forward 5'-TGCAGTAACTTCGTGCCTAGCA-3', primer, reverse primer, 5'-CGCGTGGTCCTCTATCTCCA-3', probe, 5'-CATGCCAATCCTTACAAGAGGCAACTGC-3'; collagen 5'-AAGAAACACATCTGGTTTGGAGAAA-3', type forward primer, reverse primer, II, 5'-TGGGAGCCAGGTTGTCATC-3', probe, 5'-CAACGGTGGCTTCCACTTCAGCTATGG-3'; aggrecan, forward 5'-CCAACGAAACCTATGACGTGTACT-3', primer. reverse primer, 5'-GCACTCGTTGGCTGCCTC-3', probe, 5'-ATGTTGCATAGAAGACCTCGCCCTCCAT-3'. All three samples were used for the analysis (n = 3).

2.3.10 Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were performed by a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) using KyPlot 5.0 software (KyensLab Inc., Tokyo, Japan). All quantitative data are expressed as the mean standard deviation (SD). Differences were considered to be statistically significant when p < 0.05. *, **, *** indicate p < 0.05, p < 0.01 and p < 0.001, respectively.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Rheological characteristics of gelatin solution and stiffness of gelatin hydrogels

Rheological measurements were conducted to evaluate the viscosity and gel-to-sol phase transition of gelatin solutions of different concentrations using a rotational shear rheometer and an oscillatory rheometer, respectively. The viscosity of the gelatin solution showed Newtonian behavior at 37 °C regardless of the shear rate and gelatin concentration, which was in good agreement with the results of a previous report [36]. The viscosity increased with increasing gelatin concentration (Figure 2.1a). A cell culture medium (H-DMEM) was used as a control for comparison. These results indicated that the gelatin viscosity could be changed by altering the gelatin concentration. In this part, three concentrations of gelatin solutions (5, 10 and 15% (w/v)) were used to control the viscosity at three different levels (low, middle and high) to investigate the influence of viscosity on chondrocyte function.

The storage modulus (G') and loss modulus (G") of the three gelatin solutions were measured at a constant frequency of 1 Hz by changing the temperature from 25 °C to 37 °C (Figure 2.1b). As the temperature increased, the values of G' and G" of the samples gradually decreased and the gel-to-sol phase transition temperature was determined from the intersection point, where G" exceeded G'. The gel-to-sol phase transition temperatures of the three gelatin solutions were almost the same and were below 37 °C. The results indicated that the concentration of the pristine gelatin solution did not affect the gel-to-sol phase transition temperature. The gelatin solutions were still in a liquid state and could provide a viscous microenvironment for chondrocytes during cell culture at 37 °C.

The Young's modulus of the GelMA hydrogels was measured by AFM nanoindentation and calculated from the obtained force curves according to the Hertz's model. The young's modulus of the GelMA hydrogels was 30.3 ± 3.3 kPa. The GelMA hydrogels had a high Young's modulus and were stiff.



Figure 2.1 (a) Viscosity curves of the aqueous solutions of 5, 10 and 15 (w/v)% gelatin measured at 37 °C. The cell culture medium used to prepare the gelatin solutions was used as a control. (b) Temperature-dependence curves of the G' and G" values of the 5, 10 and 15 (w/v)% gelatin aqueous solutions at a constant frequency of 1 Hz.

2.4.2 Preparation of cell-laden biphasic GelMA hydrogels

To investigate the effect of the viscosity of the gelatin solutions on cell functions, aqueous gelatin solutions with three different concentrations and viscosities were incorporated into the photocrosslinked GelMA hydrogels to construct the biphasic solution/hydrogel systems, in which microcubes of gelatin solution as the inner phase were encapsulated by the GelMA hydrogel as the outer phase (Figure 2.2a). The outer phase of the GelMA hydrogels was prepared by the photoinitiation of the crosslinking of the GelMA macromer, which was synthesized by the reaction of methacrylic anhydride with the amino groups in gelatin molecules. The synthesized GelMA macromer was analyzed by ¹H-NMR and the result indicated a high degree (91%) of methacrylation (Figure 2.3). Cell-laden GelMA hydrogels without microcubes of gelatin solution were prepared as a control.

First, the cell-laden gelatin microcubes were prepared by gelation of the mixture solution of chondrocytes and different concentrations of gelatin solution, followed by cutting with a nylon mesh ($250 \times 250 \text{ mm}$). The chondrocytes were homogeneously distributed in all the gelatin microcubes prepared with 5, 10 and 15% (w/v) gelatin solutions. The size of the microcubes was approximately $250 \times 250 \times 300 \text{ mm}$ (Figure 2.2b). The preparation method enabled easy and efficient production of microcubes in a cell-friendly environment without the use of harmful reagents and solvents such as organic solvents and oils. Subsequently, the cell-laden gelatin microcubes were encapsulated within the photocrosslinkable GelMA hydrogel by UV irradiation. After culturing the constructs at 37 °C, the cell-laden gelatin hydrogel microcubes were dissolved to yield a cell-laden gelatin solution. The cell-laden gelatin solution microcubes were encapsulated within the photocrosslinked GelMA hydrogel (Figure 2.2c). The cells and gelatin solution microcubes were constrained within the photocrosslinked GelMA hydrogel, allowing the 3D culture of chondrocytes in the viscous gelatin solution.



Figure 2.2 (a) Preparation scheme of the GelMA hydrogels containing cell-laden gelatin solution microcubes. (b) Representative photomicrographs of chondrocyte-laden gelatin hydrogel microcubes prepared with gelatin solutions of different viscosities at high magnification. (c) Representative photo of GelMA hydrogels containing cell-laden gelatin solution microcubes prepared with 10 (w/v)% gelatin solution at low magnification. The scale bars indicate (b) 200 μ m and (c) 500 μ m in the Figure legend.



Figure 2.3 ¹H NMR spectra of pristine gelatin and GelMA macromer. The vinyl protons of the methacrylate groups were contributed to peaks at 5.4 ppm and 5.7 ppm. Peak at 2.9 ppm decreased due to reduction of the N-methylene protons in lysine groups after reaction with methacrylic anhydride.

2.4.3 Quantification of DNA and sGAG

The amount of DNA in the construct was quantitatively evaluated to investigate the effect of the viscosity of gelatin solutions on chondrocyte proliferation after 3 hours, 7, 14 and 21 days of culture (Figure 2.4a). The DNA amount after 3 hours of culture was the same for the three samples of different viscosities, indicating that the same number of chondrocytes was seeded in each sample. The amount of DNA in the GelMA hydrogels containing the chondrocyte-laden gelatin solution microcubes was lower than that in the chondrocyte-laden GelMA hydrogel without gelatin solution. This result should be due to the punching of the chondrocyte-laden biphasic GelMA hydrogels in discs during sample preparation, which could lead to

cutting of the cell-laden gelatin solution microcubes and therefore release the chondrocyte-laden gelatin solution located near the GelMA hydrogel surfaces.

The DNA amount showed a significant dependence on the viscosity of the gelatin solution (Figure 2.4a). The DNA amount was higher in the lower viscosity gelatin solution and was decreased with the increase in the gelatin solution viscosity. The results indicated that chondrocytes proliferated faster in the lower viscosity gelatin solution. Low viscosity was beneficial for chondrocyte proliferation. Compared to that in the viscous gelatin solution, chondrocyte proliferation was reduced in the stiff GelMA hydrogels (control).

The sGAG content, which is one of the main components of cartilage matrices, was quantitatively evaluated at the same time points as the DNA quantification (Figure 2.4b). The sGAG content was not detected after 3 hours of culture. After culturing for longer periods of 7, 14 and 21 days, the sGAG content was detected and was increased along with the culture time. The sGAG content was lower in the lower viscosity gelatin solution and was increased with increasing gelation solution viscosity. Chondrocytes cultured in the stiff GelMA hydrogels (control) showed the highest sGAG content. The sGAG/DNA ratio showed the same trend as that of the sGAG content, although it was more evident (Figure 2.4c). The ratio increased with increasing gelatin solution viscosity. The chondrocytes cultured in the stiff GelMA hydrogels showed the highest sGAG/DNA ratio.

The results indicated that chondrocytes cultured in gelatin solutions could proliferate and produce ECM, although the proliferation rate and ECM production capacity were dependent on the viscosity of the solutions. A low viscosity was more beneficial for chondrocyte proliferation, while a high viscosity was more beneficial for ECM production. However, chondrocytes cultured in the stiff GelM hydrogels had a high capacity for ECM production, but they almost did not proliferate. The stiff GelMA hydrogels showed the best effect on ECM production, while inhibiting the proliferation of chondrocytes.



Figure 2.4 Quantification of (a) the DNA amount and (b) the sGAG content of GelMA hydrogels containing chondrocyte-laden gelatin solution microcubes prepared with gelatin solutions of different viscosities after culture for 3 hours and 7, 14 and 21 days. Chondrocyte-laden GelMA hydrogel without gelatin solution was used as a control. (c) The sGAG content was normalized to the DNA amount. Data are shown as the mean \pm SD, n = 4. *, *p* < 0.05; **, *p* < 0.01 and ***, *p* < 0.001.

2.4.4 Cell morphology

It has been reported that cell morphology and cytoskeletal structures are correlated with cell proliferation and phenotypes [24, 34]. The nuclei and actin filaments of chondrocytes were stained after culturing for 1, 7, 14 and 21 days (Figure 2.5). After 1 day of culture in viscous gelatin solutions, the chondrocytes showed a rounded morphology. They spread and showed a spread cytoskeleton after culturing for 7, 14 and 21 days. Spreading was more evident in the chondrocytes cultured in the low-viscosity gelatin solution. Therefore, low viscosity could promote cell spreading more strongly than high viscosity. In the

high-viscosity gelatin solution, the chondrocytes were partially aggregated. Moreover, chondrocytes were observed only in the gelatin solution microcubes. No cells were observed in the surrounding GelMA hydrogels. The results indicated that no cells migrated from the viscous gelatin solution into the surrounding stiff GelMA hydrogel, which demonstrated that the biphasic system was effective for maintaining the cells in the viscous gelatin solution during the investigation of the influence of viscosity on cell functions.

In the case of the stiff GelMA hydrogel (control), the chondrocytes were homogenously distributed and maintained their spherical shape. Some aggregates were observed in the stiff GelMA hydrogel. Cell aggregates were more obvious after 21 days of culture.



Figure 2.5 Representative confocal laser scanning microscopic images of chondrocytes cultured in gelatin solutions with different viscosities after 1, 7, 14 and 21 days. Actin filaments (green) and nuclei (blue) were fluorescently stained. Chondrocyte-laden GelMA hydrogel without gelatin solution was used as a control. Scale bar: 200 µm.

2.4.5 Quantification of cartilaginous gene expression

To further evaluate the chondrocyte responses to altered gelatin viscosity at the gene expression level, the gene expression levels of collagen type I, collagen type II and aggrecan were analyzed with RT-PCR after 21 days of culture (Figure 2.6). The expression of collagen type I, which is related to fibrocartilage formation, was high in the low-viscosity gelatin solution and its expression level decreased with increasing gelatin solution viscosity. Its expression was the lowest in the stiff GelMA hydrogel (control). On the other hand, the

two cartilaginous genes, collagen type II and aggrecan, were highly expressed in the high-viscosity gelatin solution. Their expression level decreased with decreasing viscosity. Their expression in the stiff GelMA



Figure 2.6 Quantification of the gene expression of (a) collagen type I, (b) collagen type II and (c) aggrecan in chondrocytes cultured in gelatin solutions with different viscosities after 21 days. Chondrocyte-laden GelMA hydrogel without gelatin solution was used as a control. Values were normalized according to the gene expression levels measured in chondrocytes cultured in a low-viscosity gelatin solution. Data are shown as the mean \pm SD, n = 3. *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01 and ***, p < 0.001.

hydrogel (control) was the highest.

2.5 Discussion

In articular cartilage, the cartilaginous ECM surrounding chondrocytes provides numerous mechanical signals related to cellular functions, such as cell morphology, proliferation and differentiation [3]. Although viscoelastic properties have been shown to affect chondrocyte functions, the effect of ECM viscosity on chondrocyte functions, particularly in 3D culture, remains unclear. Therefore, in this part, a biphasic solution/hydrogel system composed of an inner gelatin solution phase and an embedding gelatin hydrogel phase was established to study the effects of fluid viscosity on chondrocyte functions.

The physically crosslinked gelatin hydrogel, which was a liquid solution at the cell culture temperature (37 °C), was used as the inner phase. The gelatin was gelled at a low temperature (4 °C) and dissolved at 37 °C. Its viscosity could be adjusted by altering its concentration. Gelatin aqueous solutions at three different concentrations of 5, 10 and 15% (w/v) were used to produce low, medium and high viscosity for the 3D culture of chondrocytes. On the other hand, chemically crosslinked and stiff GelMA hydrogels were prepared by the photoinitiated crosslinking of photoreactive GelMA. The chemically crosslinked GelMA hydrogel was stable and retained its gelation structure during cell culture. The photoinitiated crosslinking was conducted after mixing the cell-laden physically crosslinked gelatin hydrogel microcubes and photoreactive GelMA, which led to the embedding of the physically crosslinked gelatin hydrogel microcubes in the chemically crosslinked gelatin hydrogel (GelMA hydrogel). During cell culture at 37 °C, the physically crosslinked gelatin hydrogel microcubes were dissolved and the chondrocytes were suspended in the microcubic regions of gelatin solution surrounded by chemically crosslinked GelMA hydrogels. The solution and the embedding hydrogel matrix had the same composition of gelatin to avoid the influence of different compositions. During cell culture, no chondrocytes migrated from the gelatin solution microcubes into the embedding GelMA hydrogel. The cells were constrained in the microcubic regions of the gelatin solution. The system could be used for the 3D culture of cells in viscous liquids. To date, cells have been cultured at liquid-liquid or solid-liquid interfaces to investigate the effect of viscosity on cell functions. The biphasic hydrogel system used in the present study made it possible to culture cells in viscous 3D liquids.

When bovine primary articular chondrocytes were cultured in the biphasic hydrogel system, all three

gelatin solutions with different viscosities supported chondrocyte proliferation and ECM production. However, chondrocytes cultured in gelatin solutions of different viscosities showed different morphologies, proliferation rates, levels of ECM production and gene expression levels. Chondrocytes cultured in the low-viscosity gelatin solution proliferated more quickly than those cultured in the high-viscosity gelatin solution. High viscosity was beneficial for ECM production and the expression of articular cartilage-specific genes (collagen type II and aggrecan). The chondrocytes cultured in the low-viscosity gelatin solution had a more spread morphology than those cultured in the high-viscosity gelatin solution. The results indicated that high viscosity was more beneficial for the maintenance of the chondrocyte phenotype, while low viscosity was more beneficial for cell expansion.

The stiffness of cell culture substrates and scaffolds has been broadly investigated for its impact on chondrocyte functions. Some studies have reported that stiffer hydrogels or hydrogels with moderate stiffness are good for chondrogenic ECM deposition and the maintenance of the chondrocyte phenotype [35, 37, 38, 43]. For example, stiffer hydrogels show a higher capacity for inducing the expression of collagen type II and glycosaminoglycans than softer hydrogels when chondrocytes are cultured in chitosan-hyaluronic acid dialdehyde hydrogels with a stiffness range of 130.78-181.47 kPa [35]. Chondrocytes cultured in a poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) hydrogel with a compressive modulus of 360 kPa showed enhanced secretion of cartilaginous matrices compared to those cultured in PEG hydrogels with higher (960 kPa) and lower (30 kPa) moduli [43] GelMA hydrogels of different stiffness were prepared from the same concentration of gelatin with different degrees of methacryloyl functionalization of the amino groups [32]. In comparison with GelMA hydrogels with three different stiffnesses within a relatively low range of stiffness (3.8, 17.1 and 29.9 kPa), GelMA hydrogels with a high stiffness (29.9 kPa) had a beneficial effect on the maintenance of the chondrogenic phenotype of bovine articular chondrocytes [32]. A further increase in the crosslinking degree and stiffness of GelMA hydrogels by utilizing their reaction with amino groups, hydroxyl and carboxyl groups (GelMAGMA hydrogels) can maintain the cartilaginous phenotypes of chondrocytes while inhibiting cell proliferation [37]. However, the capacity of GelMAGMA hydrogels to maintain a cartilaginous phenotype is inferior to that of GelMA hydrogels [37]. When chondrocytes were cultured in enzymatically crosslinked gelatin-hydroxyphenylpropionic acid hydrogels with a storage modulus from 570 to 2750 Pa, the hydrogels with a medium stiffness (1000 Pa) showed the best effect on the chondrocyte phenotype, cartilage regeneration and integration with the adjacent tissue [38].

The influence of stiffness on cartilaginous matrix deposition and neocartilage formation is also dependent on the culture time and culture mode (*in vitro* culture or *in vivo* implantation). Poly(ethylene glycol) dimethacrylate hydrogels functionalized with chondroitin sulfate, hyaluronic acid and heparin sulfate with a tunable stiffness range of ~1-33 kPa have been used for *in vitro* and *in vivo* cartilage regeneration, and hydrogels with a stiffness range of ~7-33 kPa have been shown to be preferable scaffolds for neocartilage formation [39]. Gelatin hydrogels with a three-dimensional architecture with high and low elastic properties have been used to investigate the influence of these properties on *in vitro* and *in vivo* chondrogenesis. Soft, fast-degrading hydrogels better promote *in vitro* chondrogenic differentiation, while stiffer, slow-degrading hydrogels are superior for neocartilage formation [40].

On the other hand, some studies have shown that softer hydrogels are more beneficial for the deposition of cartilaginous ECM and maintenance of the chondrocyte phenotype [41, 42]. For example, when chondrocytes were cultured in a polyethylene glycol dimethacrylate (PEGDM) hydrogel system with a Young's modulus gradient range of ~27-3.8 kPa, hydrogels with a lower Young's modulus induced an increased ECM content [43]. Softer collagen hydrogels promoted the expression of cartilaginous genes in comparison with stiffer collagen hydrogels [44]. Low stiffness (4 kPa) is good for maintaining the chondrocyte phenotype by up-regulating the expression of collagen type II and aggrecan while suppressing

actin organization and cell proliferation when chondrocytes are cultured on the surfaces of PAA hydrogels with a Young's modulus between 4 and 100 kPa [45]. The culture of chondrocytes in PEG hydrogels with a compressive modulus range between 60 and 670 kPa showed that highly crosslinked hydrogels with a high compression modulus have a greater impact on the inhibition of cell proliferation and proteoglycan synthesis [46]. PEG hydrogels with three different crosslinking densities (compressive moduli of 60, 320 and 590 kPa) had different impacts on ECM production [42]. PEG hydrogels with the lowest degree of crosslinking most significantly enhanced glycosaminoglycan production [42]. High stiffness is always accompanied by high polymer concentration and high crosslinking density, which are considered to impede secretion and re-distribution of ECM [37, 46].

Furthermore, viscoelastic hydrogels and substrates with stress relaxation have been used for cell culture to separate the influence of viscosity from that of elastic properties. Viscous linear PAA physically entrapped in covalently crosslinked PAA networks reduced the differentiation probability and facilitated the re-acquisition of an un-differentiated phenotype in rat hepatic stellate cells [28]. Cell culture at liquid-liquid interfaces or liquid-substrate interfaces has been adopted to investigate the influence of viscosity on cell functions [30, 31] Viscosity has been shown to play an important role in controlling cell spreading, cytoskeletal organization, cell proliferation and fate. However, all these studies were based on interfaces that were 2D.

The biphasic solution/hydrogel culture system used in this part allowed the 3D culture of chondrocytes. The influence of viscosity on chondrocyte functions was different from that of stiffness. Viscosity supported chondrocyte proliferation and showed different effects on ECM production and chondrocyte phenotypes, which were dependent on viscosity. The different results observed in the present study and previous studies are mainly due to the different properties of viscous liquids and elastic hydrogels. Previous studies have used elastic or viscoelastic hydrogels, which could not completely separate the influence of viscosity from that of other parameters. The influence of the viscosity of the gelatin solution could be completely separated from other factors and individually investigated. Chondrocytes cultured in a high-viscosity gelatin solution were less spread and partially aggregated. Chondrocytes cultured in the stiff GelMA hydrogel (control) showed an obviously rounded morphology and aggregation. The rounded morphology and cell aggregation may have contributed to the enhancement of the maintenance of the chondrocyte phenotype. The formation of cell aggregation can enhance cell-cell interactions, change cell morphology from spread to round and stimulate the secretion of cartilaginous matrices [47, 48]. Culture in viscous gelatin solutions not only increased the secretion of cartilaginous matrices and the maintenance of the chondrocyte phenotype but also supported chondrocyte proliferation.

2.6 Conclusions

A biphasic solution/hydrogel 3D culture system was established for the 3D culture of bovine primary articular chondrocytes to investigate the influence of viscosity on chondrocyte functions. Highly viscous gelatin solutions promoted cartilaginous gene expression and ECM secretion but also resulted in slow cell proliferation. On the other hand, chondrocytes cultured in low-viscosity gelatin solution showed fast proliferation and a more elongated cell morphology but less ECM production and cartilaginous gene expression. The results suggested that viscosity was a very important factor in the regulation of chondrocyte function. Viscosity could affect cartilaginous ECM production and the chondrocyte phenotype and supported chondrocyte proliferation.
2.7 References

[1] D. E. Jaalouk, J. Lammerding, Mechanotransduction gone awry, Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology 10(1) (2009) 63-73.

[2] G. S. Hussey, J. L. Dziki, S. F. Badylak, Extracellular matrix-based materials for regenerative medicine, Nature Review Materials 3(7) (2018) 159-173.

[3] F. Han, C. Zhu, Q. Guo, H. Yang, B. Li, Cellular modulation by the elasticity of biomaterials, Journal of Materials Chemistry B 4(1) (2016) 9-26.

[4] S. Muduli, H. H. C. Lee, J. S. Yang, T. Y. Chen, A. Higuchi, S. S. Kumar, A. A. Alarfaj, M. A. Munusamy, G. Benelli, K. Murugan, C. Y. Liu, Y. F. Chen, Y. Chang, B. Moorthy, H. C. Wang, S. T. Hsu, Q. D. Ling, Proliferation and osteogenic differentiation of amniotic fluid-derived stem cells, Journal of Materials Chemistry B 5 (27) (2017) 5345-5354.

[5] A. Higuchi, Q. D. Ling, Y. A. Ko, Y. Chang, A. Umezawa, Biomaterials for the feeder-free culture of human embryonic stem cells and induced pluripotent stem cells, Chemical Reviews 111(5) (2011) 3021-3035.

[6] H. Takashi, N. Kawazoe, G. Chen, The balance of osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation in human mesenchymal stem cells by matrices that mimic stepwise tissue development, Biomaterials 33(7) (2012) 2025-2031.

[7] K. M. Wisdom, K. Adebowale, J. Chang, J. Y. Lee, S. Nam, R. Desai, N. S. Rossen, M. Rafat, R. B. West, L. Hodgson, O. Chaudhuri, Matrix mechanical plasticity regulates cancer cell migration through confining microenvironments, Nature Communications 9(1) (2018) 41-44.

[8] J. J. Y. Tan, J. K. Tee, K. O. Chou, S. Y. A. Yong, J. Pan, H. K. Ho, P. C. L. Ho, L. Kang, Impact of substrate stiffness on dermal papilla aggregates in microgels, Biomaterials Science 6(6) (2018) 1347-1357.

[9] O. Chaudhuri, Viscoelastic hydrogels for 3D cell culture, Biomaterials Science 5(19) (2017) 1480-1490.

[10] A. Higuchi, Q. D. Ling, S. S. Kumar, Y. Chang, A. A. Alarfaj, M. A. Munusamy, K. Murugan, S. T. Hsu, A. Umezawa, Physical cues of cell culture materials lead the direction of differentiation lineages of pluripotent stem cells, Journal of Materials Chemistry B 3(41) (2015) 8032-8058.

[11] Y. Duan, X. Li, X. Zuo, T. Shen, S. Yu, L. Deng, C. Gao, Migration of endothelial cells and mesenchymal stem cells into hyaluronic acid hydrogels with different moduli under induction of pro-inflammatory macrophages, Journal of Materials Chemistry B 7(36) (2019) 5478-5489.

[12] J. Carthew, J. E. Frith, J. S. Forsythe, V. X. Truong, Polyethylene glycol-gelatin hydrogels with tuneable stiffness prepared by horseradish peroxidase-activated tetrazine-norbornene ligation, Journal of Materials Chemistry B 6(9) (2018) 1394-1401.

[13] D. D. McKinnon, D. W. Domaille, J. N. Cha, K. S. Anseth, Biophysically defined and cytocompatible covalently adaptable networks as viscoelastic 3D cell culture systems, Advanced Materials 26(6) (2014) 865-872.

[14] H. P. Lee, L. Gu, D. J. Mooney, M. E. Levenston, O. Chaudhuri, Mechanical confinement regulates cartilage matrix formation by chondrocytes, Nature Materials 16(12) (2017) 1243-1251.

[15] R. J. Pelham, Y. L. Wang, Cell locomotion and focal adhesions are regulated by substrate flexibility, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 94(25) (1997) 13661-13665.

[16] T. Yeung, P. Georges, L. Flanagan, B. Marg, M. Ortiz, M. Funaki, N. Zahir, W. Ming, V. Weaver, P. Janmey, Effects of substrate stiffness on cell morphology, cytoskeletal structure, and adhesion, Cell Motil Cytoskeleton 60(1) (2005) 24-34.

[17] D. E. Discher, P. Janmey, Y. L. Wang, Tissue cells feel and respond to the stiffness of their substrate, Science 310(5751) (2005) 1139-1143.

[18] A. J. Engler, S. Sen, H. L. Sweeney, D. E. Discher, Matrix elasticity directs stem cell lineage specification, Cell 126(4) (2006) 677-689.

[19] K. Saha, A. J. Keung, E. F. Irwin, Y. Li, L. Little, D. V. Schaffer, K. E. Healy, Substrate modulus directs neural stem cell behavior, Biophysical Journal 95(9) (2008) 4426-4438.

[20] R. K. Assoian, E. A. Klein, Growth control by intracellular tension and extracellular stiffness, Trends in Cell Biology 18(7) (2008) 347-352.

[21] T. M. Gilbert, K. L. Havenstrite, K. E. G. Magnusson, A. Sacco, N. A. Leonardi, P. Kraft, N. K. Nguyen, S. Thrun, M. P. Lutolf, H. M. Blau, Substrate elasticity regulates skeletal muscle stem cell self-renewal in culture, Science 329(5995) (2010) 1078-1081.

[22] C. L. Thedieck, N. Rauch, R. Fiammengo, G. Klein, J. P. Spatz, Impact of substrate elasticity on human hematopoietic stem and progenitor cell adhesion and motility, Journal of cell science 125(16) (2012) 3765-3775.

[23] H. J. Kong, T. R. Polte, E. Alsberg, D. J. Mooney, FRET measurements of cell-traction forces and nano-scale clustering of adhesion ligands varied by substrate stiffness, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 102(12) (2005) 4300-4305.

[24] N. Huebsch, P. R. Arany, A. S. Mao, D. Shvartsman, O. A. Ali, S. A. Bencherif, J. Rivera-Feliciano, D. J. Mooney, Harnessing traction-mediated manipulation of the cell/matrix interface to control stem-cell fate, Nature Materials 9(6) (2010) 518-526.

[25] Y. S. Pek, A. C. A. Wan, J. Y. Ying, The effect of matrix stiffness on mesenchymal stem cell differentiation in a 3D thixotropic gel, Biomaterials 31(3) (2010) 385-391.

[26] B. Trappmann, J. E. Gautrot, J. Connelly, D. G. T. Strange, Y. Li, M. L. Oyen, M. A. Cohen Stuart, H. Boehm, B. Li, V. Vogel, J. P. Spatz, F. M. Watt, W. T. S. Huck, Extracellular-matrix tethering regulates stem-cell fate, Nature Materials 11(7) (2012) 642-649.

[27] S. Khetan, M. Guvendiren, W. R. Legant, D. M. Cohen, C. S. Chen, J. A. Burdick, Degradation-mediated cellular traction directs stem cell fate in covalently crosslinked three-dimensional hydrogels, Nature Materials 12(5) (2013) 458-465.

[28] E. E. Charrier, K. Pogoda, R. G. Wells, P. A. Janmey, Control of cell morphology and differentiation by substrates with independently tunable elasticity and viscous dissipation, Nature Communications 9(1) (2018) 449.

[29] O. Chaudhuri, L. Gu, M. Darnell, D. Klumpers, S. A. Bencherif, J. C. Weaver, N. Huebsch, D. J. Mooney, Substrate stress relaxation regulates cell spreading, Nature Communications 6 (2015) 6364.

[30] D. Kong, L. Peng, S. D. Cio, P. Novak, J. E. Gautrot, Stem cell expansion and fate decision on liquid substrates are regulated by self-assembled nanosheets, ACS Nano 12(9) (2018) 9206-9213.

[31] M. Bennett, M. Cantini, J. Reboud, J. M. Cooper, P. RocaCusachs, M. Salmeron-Sanchez, Molecular clutch drives cell response to surface viscosity, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 115(6) (2018) 1193.

[32] X. Li, S. Chen, J. Li, X. Wang, J. Zhang, N. Kawazoe, G. Chen, 3D culture of chondrocytes in gelatin hydrogels with different stiffness, Polymer 8(8) (2016) 269.

[33] X. Li, Y. Chen, N. Kawazoe, G. Chen, Influence of microporous gelatin hydrogels on chondrocyte functions, Journal of Materials Chemistry B 5(29) (2017) 5753-5762.

[34] R. Cai, T. Nakamoto, N. Kawazoe, G. Chen, Influence of stepwise chondrogenesis-mimicking 3D extracellular matrix on chondrogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells, Biomaterials 52(1) (2015) 199-207.

[35] L. V. Thomas, R. Vg, P. D. Nair, Effect of stiffness of chitosan-hyaluronic acid dialdehyde hydrogels on the viability and growth of encapsulated chondrocytes, International Journal of Biological Macromolecules 104 (2017) 1925-1935.

[36] S. J. Bryant, K. S. Anseth, Hydrogel properties influence ECM production by chondrocytes photoencapsulated in poly(ethylene glycol) hydrogels, Journal of Biomedical Materials Research 59(1) (2002) 63-72.

[37] X. Li, J. Zhang, N. Kawazoe, G. Chen, Fabrication of highly crosslinked gelatin hydrogel and its influence on chondrocyte proliferation and phenotype, Polymers 9(8) (2017) 309.

[38] L. S. Wang, C. Du, W. S. Toh, A. C. Wan, S. J. Gao, M. Kurisawa, Modulation of chondrocyte functions and stiffness-dependent cartilage repair using an injectable enzymatically crosslinked hydrogel with tunable mechanical properties, Biomaterials 35(7) (2014) 2207-2217.

[39] T. Wang, J. H. Lai, F. Yang, Effects of hydrogel stiffness and extracellular compositions on modulating cartilage regeneration by mixed populations of stem cells and chondrocytes *In vivo*, Tissue Engineering Part A 22(23-24) (2016) 1348-1356.

[40] M. Sarem, N. Arya, M. Heizmann, A. T. Neffe, A. Barbero, T. P. Gebauer, I. Martin, A. Lendlein, V. P. Shastri, Interplay between stiffness and degradation of architectured gelatin hydrogels leads to differential modulation of chondrogenesis *in vitro* and *in vivo*, Acta Biomaterialia 69 (2018) 83-94.

[41] E. Schuh, S. Hofmann, K. Stok, H. Notbohm, R. Mu["]ller, N. Rotter, Chondrocyte redifferentiation in 3D: The effect of adhesion site density and substrate elasticity, Journal of biomedical materials research Part A 100(1) (2012) 38-47.

[42] G. D. Nicodemus, S. C. Skaalure, S. J. Bryant, Gel structure has an impact on pericellular and extracellular matrix deposition, which subsequently alters metabolic activities in chondrocyte-laden PEG hydrogels, Acta Biomaterialia 7(2) (2011) 492-504.

[43] L. A. S. Callahan, A. M. Ganios, E. P. Childers, S. D. Weiner, M. L. Becker, Primary human chondrocyte extracellular matrix formation and phenotype maintenance using RGD-derivatized PEGDM hydrogels possessing a continuous Young's modulus gradient, Acta Biomaterialia 9(4) (2013) 6095-6104.

[44] P. Sanz-Ramos, G. Mora, M. Vicente-Pascual, I. Ochoa, C. Alcaine, R. Moreno, M. Doblare', I. Izal-Azca'rate, Response of sheep chondrocytes to changes in substrate stiffness from 2 to 20 Pa: effect of cell passaging, Connective tissue research 54(3) (2013) 159-166.

[45] E. Schuh, J. Kramer, J. Rohwedel, H. Notbohm, R. Muller, T. Gutsmann, N. Rotter, Effect of matrix elasticity on the maintenance of the chondrogenic phenotype, Tissue Engineering Part A 16(4) (2010) 1281-1290.

[46] S. J. Bryant, T. T. Chowdhury, D. A. Lee, D. L. Bader, K. S. Anseth, Crosslinking density influences chondrocyte metabolism in dynamically loaded photocrosslinked poly(ethylene glycol) hydrogels, Annals of Biomedical Engineering 32(3) (2004) 407-417.

[47] A. M. DeLise, L. Fischer, R. S. Tuan, Cellular interactions and signaling in cartilage development, Osteoarthritis and Cartilage 8(5) (2000) 309-334.

[48] X. Li, Q. Sun, Q. Li, N. Kawazoe, G. Chen, Functional hydrogels with tunable structures and properties for tissue engineering applications, Frontiers in Chemistry 6 (2018) 1-20.

Chapter 3

Influence of viscosity on chondrogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells during 3D culture in viscous gelatin solution-embedded hydrogels

3.1 Abstract

Differentiation of human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs) is regulated by a variety of cues of their surrounding microenvironment. In particular, mechanical properties of cell culture matrices have been recently disclosed to play a pivotal role in stem cell differentiation. However, it remains elusive how viscosity affects the chondrogenic differentiation of hMSCs during three-dimensional (3D) culture. In this part, a 3D culture system that was established by embedding viscous gelatin solution in chemically crosslinked gelatin hydrogels was used for 3D culture of hMSCs in gelatin solutions with different viscosities. The influence of solution viscosity on chondrogenic differentiation of hMSCs was investigated. Viscous gelatin solutions promoted cell proliferation in the order of low, middle and high viscosity while elastic hydrogels restricted cell proliferation. High viscosity gelatin solution factors, high viscosity was beneficial for the chondrogenic differentiation of hMSCs. The results suggested the role of viscosity should be considered as one of the dominant mechanical cues affecting stem cell differentiation.

3.2 Introduction

Extracellular matrix (ECM) microenvironment is a three-dimensional (3D) network that surrounds and interacts with cells. Cell functions are regulated by various biological and physicochemical cues from ECM [1-6]. Although influence of biological and chemical cues on cell functions, such as stem cell differentiation, has been intensively studied so far, accumulating evidences indicate that physical cues, such as elasticity and viscoelasticity, also play an important role in regulating cell functions [7, 8]. Many approaches have been developed to explore the effect of such a physical cue, stiffness, on stem cell differentiation [9-14]. Initial studies of stiffness influence on cell differentiation have been performed on two-dimensional (2D) substrates [15-19]. Human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs) were seeded and grown on

polyacrylamide (PAA) gels with different stiffness and the results showed stiffness-dependent cell differentiation. hMSCs cultured on soft, intermediate and stiff PAA gels that respectively mimic the elasticity of brain (0.1-1 kPa), striated muscle (8-17 kPa) and premineralized bone (25-40 kPa) could differentiate to neurocytes, osteoblasts and skeletal muscle cells, respectively [20]. It has been well recognized that on 2D hydrogel substrates, stiff matrix is beneficial for osteogenic differentiation, while soft matrix is beneficial for adipogenic differentiation [21]. Studies have been further extended from 2D to 3D culture systems because 2D culture systems do not accurately reflect the complexity of 3D native tissue microenvironment. hMSCs encapsulated in alginate hydrogels with different elastic moduli differentiate to osteogenic and adipogenic lineages, which is dependent on elastic modulus [22]. Adipogenic differentiation primarily occurred in softer matrix with an elastic modulus of 2.5-5 kPa, while osteogenic differentiation occurred in stiffer matrix with an elastic modulus of 11-30 kPa, indicating that cell lineages were largely affected by matrices with similar stiffness to the microenvironment where cells reside. Softer elastomer scaffolds enhance chondrogenic differentiation of hMSCs, while stiffer ones promote their osteogenic differentiation [23, 24]. Thixotropic polyethylene glycol-silica gels have been used for 3D culture of hMSCs [25]. The thixotropic gels of different liquefaction stress, which is the minimum shear stress required for liquefaction of the gel, show different effect on differentiation of hMSCs. The gels with low (7 Pa), middle (25 Pa) and high (75 Pa) liquefaction stress showed the highest expression of neural, myogenic and osteogenic transcription factors, respectively. Enhanced stiffness of hydrogel scaffolds promotes osteogenic differentiation of rat bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells and accelerates bone regeneration [25]. On the other hand, soft gels prepared from self-assembling peptide facilitate adipogenic differentiation of MSCs [26]. ECM microenvironment in tissues exhibit elastic properties as well as viscous properties. In spite of extensive studies about the influence of matrix elastic modulus on cell functions have been reported, influence of matrix viscosity on cell functions has been less investigated due to lack of good culture systems. A recent approach has been reported by using viscoelastic PAA hydrogels with independently tunable elasticity and viscous dissipation to disclose their influence on rat primary hepatic stellate cells [27]. Cell phenotype is much closer to non-differentiated stellate cells on highly dissipative gels. In another study, RGD-functionalized lipid bilayers with controlled ligand density and different viscosity were designed to investigate the influence of pure viscous surfaces on murine myoblast functions [28]. A lot of focal adhesions as well as cell spreading were observed on high viscous surfaces (low mobility). These studies performed on viscoelastic or viscous surfaces reveal the viscosity influence on cell functions during 2D culture. However, influence of matrix viscosity on cell functions during 3D culture remains elusive. Recently, a 3D culture system has been established by embedding gelatin solutions of different viscosities in a chemically crosslinked hydrogel [29]. The system is applicable for 3D culture of hMSCs in viscous microenvironment. Meanwhile, osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation of hMSCs has been frequently conducted in either osteogenic or adipogenic induction medium. It is unclear how osteogenesis and adipogenesis of hMSCs competes each other at the same culture condition in 3D viscous microenvironment. Mixture medium of osteogenic and adipogenic media is useful for investigation of competing osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation of stem cells [30]. Therefore, in this part, hMSCs were cultured in 3D gelatin solutions of different viscosities with a mixture medium of osteogenic and adipogenic induction media to investigate how solution viscosity balances the osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation of hMSCs.

3.3 Materials and methods

3.3.1 Synthesis of gelatin methacryloyl macromer

Gelatin methacryloyl (GelMA) macromer was synthesized by introducing methacrylate groups in gelatin molecules [16]. 5 g of gelatin powder from porcine skin (type A, 300 bloom, Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, Missouri, USA) was dissolved at 10 (w/v)% in phosphate buffered saline (PBS, pH 7.4, Nacalai Tesque, USA) at 50 °C under stirring until gelatin was dissolved. 5 mL of methacrylic anhydride (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, Missouri, USA) was added dropwise to the gelatin solution at a rate of 0.5 mL min⁻¹ under vigorous stirring and allowed to react in the dark at 50 °C for 3 h. A five-fold warm (40 °C) PBS was added into the mixture to stop the reaction and then the product was dialyzed against Milli-Q water using a dialysis tube (12-14 kDa molecular weight cut-off, Spectrum Laboratories, USA) in the dark for 7 days. During dialysis, water was changed 3 times every day at 40 °C to remove salts, free methacrylic anhydride and methacrylic acid. The dialyzed solution was lyophilized to obtain the GelMA macromer. The degree of methacryloyl functionalization was 91.7 % [16].

3.3.2 Culture and osteogenic differentiation of hMSCs

Gelatin powder was sterilized in an autoclave at 121 °C for 15 min and then dissolved in serum-free Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium with high glucose (4500 mg L⁻¹ glucose, H-DMEM, Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, Missouri, USA). H-DMEM was supplemented with 4 mM glu- tamine, 100 U mL⁻¹ penicillin, 100 μ g mL⁻¹ streptomycin, 0.1 mM nonessential amino acids, 0.4 mM proline, 1 mM sodium pyruvate and 50 μ g mL⁻¹ ascorbic acid. Gelatin solutions with a concentration of 5, 10 and 15 (w/v)% were prepared. An MCR Rheometer (Anton Paar, Germany) was used to measure the viscosity of the gelatin solutions. The samples were placed between two parallel plates (PP-50) with a gap distance of 0.1 mm. The viscosity was measured by using a rotational shear mode at 37 °C under a controlled shear rate from 0.1 S⁻¹ to 1000 S⁻¹. The viscosity of the serum-free H-DMEM was also measured as a control. Gelatin solutions supplemented with or without chondrogenic induction factors, the gelatin solutions were prepared with 10-7 M dexamethasone (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, Missouri, USA) and 10 ng mL⁻¹ transforming growth factor-beta3 (TGF- β 3; Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, Missouri, USA).

3.3.3 Preparation of hMSC-laden gelatin microcubes

The preparation of hMSC-laden gelatin microcubes is shown in Figure 3.1. hMSCs were purchased from Lonza (Verviers, Belgium) at passage 2 and sub-cultured using MSCGMTM (Lonza, Verviers, Belgium) under an atmosphere of 5% CO₂ at 37 °C. The subcultured hMSCs (P5) were detached by trypsin/EDTA (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, Missouri, USA) treatment, counted and re-suspended in the above prepared gelatin solutions (5, 10 and 15 (w/v)%) with or without dexamethasone and TGF- β 3 at a concentration of 5 × 10⁶ cells mL⁻¹. The cell/gelatin suspension solution was poured into a 300-µm-thick silicone frame (AS ONE, Japan) which was placed on a perfluoroalkoxy (PFA) film-covered copper plate at 37 °C, and then a glass plate was placed on the silicone frame to flatten the solution. The hMSC-laden hydrogel sheets were formed by cooling down at 4 °C, transferred onto a nylon mesh with a mesh opening size of 250 µm × 250 µm (AS

ONE, Japan) and pressed with a steel spatula through the mesh to obtain hMSC-laden gelatin hydrogel microcubes.

3.3.4 Preparation of GelMA hydrogels containing hMSC-laden gelatin microcubes

As shown in Figure 3.1, the as-prepared hMSC-laden gelatin hydrogel microcubes with or without dexamethasone and TGF- β 3 were embedded in GelMA hydrogels by the initiation of chemical crosslinking of GelMA macromer under the presence of hMSC-laden gelatin hydrogel microcubes. GelMA macromer solution was prepared by dissolving GelMA macromer (10 (w/v)%) and photoinitiator (0.5 (w/v)%), 2-hydroxy-1-(4-(hydroxyethoxy) phenyl)-2-methyl-1-propanone (Irgacure 2959, Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, Missouri, USA), in PBS at 50 °C in dark and then sterilized by syringe filter having a pore size of 0.22 µm. For the samples containing the chondrogenic induction factor, 10⁻⁷ M dexamethasone and 10 ng mL⁻¹ TGF-β3 were added in the GelMA macromer solution. The GelMA macromer solution and the hMSC-laden gelatin hydrogel microcubes containing dexamethasone and TGF- β 3 were mixed at a ratio of gelatin hydrogel microcubes and GelMA macromer solution of 1:2 (w/v) homogeneously. The mixture solution was added in a 2-mm-thick silicone frame placed between a Teflon plate and a quartz plate, followed with UV light irradiation at 365 nm using a CL-1000 UV crosslinker (Funakoshi, Japan) at a distance of 20 cm for 5 min. The UV-polymerized GelMA hydrogel sheets were punched into the discs by using a 6-mm biopsy punch (Acu-Punch, USA). After these procedures, GelMA hydrogel discs embedded with hMSC-laden gelatin hydrogel microcubes containing chondrogenic induction factors were prepared. The hMSC-laden gelatin hydrogel microcubes without chondrogenic induction factors were embedded in the GelMA hydrogels without chondrogenic induction factors by the same procedures. GelMA hydrogels loaded with hMSCs without gelatin hydrogel microcubes were prepared as controls. GelMA macromer solution was mixed with hMSCs at a final concentration of 5 \times 10⁶ cells mL⁻¹. In the case of samples containing chondrogenic induction factor, 10⁻⁷ M dexamethasone and 10 ng mL⁻¹ TGF-B3 were added into the GelMA macromer solution before mixing with cells. hMSC-laden GelMA hydrogels were obtained after UV irradiation by the same procedures. hMSC-laden GelMA hydrogels were also punched into 6-mm discs. All these hydrogel discs were cultured in serum-free H-DMEM under shaking in an incubator with an atmosphere of 5% CO₂ at 37 °C. For the culture of samples with chondrogenic induction factors, the culture



Figure 3.1 Schematic illustration of preparation of cell-laden gelatin solution-embedded GelMA hydrogel.

medium was added with 10⁻⁷ M dexamethasone. The samples were cultured for 21 days and the medium was changed every 3 days.

3.3.5 Cell viability assay

Cell viability was assessed by live/dead staining by using a Cell stain Double Staining Kit (Dojindo Laboratories, Japan) immediately after preparation of the samples and after 21 days of culture. All hydrogel discs were washed with PBS twice and incubated in serum-free medium containing calcein-AM (2 μ M) and propidium iodide (4 μ M) at 37 °C for 15 min. The stained samples were cut in a vertical direction and observed with a confocal laser microscope (Zeiss LSM 510 Meta, Germany).

3.3.6 Cell proliferation and sGAG production assay

The hydrogel discs were harvested from their culture medium and then washed with PBS two times. After being frozen and lyophilized, they were digested in 500 µL papain solution at 60 °C for 6 h under shaking. Papain solution (400 µg mL⁻¹) was prepared by dissolving papain powder (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, Missouri, USA) in 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 6.0) with 5 mM L-Cysteine hydrochloride monohydrate (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, Missouri, USA) and 5 mM ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid disodium salt dihydrate (EDTA-2Na, Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, Missouri, USA). The proliferation of hMSCs cultured in each condition was evaluated by quantification of DNA amount. A DNA quantification Kit (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, Missouri, USA) was utilized to measure the DNA amount in each sample. 5 μ L of papain lysates aliquot was mixed with 2 mL bisbenzimide (Hoechst 33258) solution (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, Missouri, USA) in a cuvette. An FP-8500 spectrofluorometer (JASCO, Japan) was used to measure the fluorescence intensity at an excitation wavelength of 360 nm and an emission wavelength of 460 nm. The DNA amount was determined by calculating the recorded fluorescence values according to a standard calibration curve. The ECMs secretion was evaluated by quantifying sGAG content. The samples for measurement of sGAG content in the above-mentioned papain lysates were prepared with Blyscan[™] Glycosaminogly can Assay Kit (Biocolor, UK) according to the manufacturer's in structions. The concentration of sGAG was measured by a microplate reader at 656 nm according to a standard curve. The sGAG content of each sample was calculated from its concentration and dilution ratio. Triplicate samples were used for the analysis to calculate means and standard deviations (n = 3).

3.3.7 RNA isolation and RT-PCR analysis

The hydrogel discs were collected, washed twice with PBS and frozen in liquid nitrogen. The frozen samples were crushed into powder using an electric crusher. The powder from each sample was dissolved in Sepasol RNA I Super G (1 mL per sample; Nacalai Tesque, Japan). Chloroform was added to the lysates to extract RNA through phase separation. The concentration of the extracted RNA was measured using a NanoDropTM Lite Spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA). RNA concentration was between 101.2 ng μ L⁻¹ and 198.2 ng μ L⁻¹ and then adjusted to the same level by adding Nuclease-free Water (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA). Next, the RNA extracted from each sample (2024 ng/sample) was converted to cDNA by using the first-strand cDNA synthesis kit (Applied Biosystems, USA). RT-PCR was performed to amplify glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH), type I collagen, type II collagen and aggrecan by using a 7500 RT-PCR System (Applied Biosystems, USA). The expression level of GAPDH, a

housekeeping gene, was used as endogenous control and the target gene expression relative to GAPDH was quantified with a $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method. The P5 hMSCs used for cell seeding were used as a reference. The data were analyzed using a QuantStudio Design & analysis software. The following primer and probe sequences were used 5'-ATGGGGAAGGTGAAGGTCG-3', GAPDH [17]: GAPDH (forward): (reverse): 5'-TAAAAGCAGCCCTGGTGACC-3', GAPDH (probe): 5'-CGCCCAATACGACCAAATCCGTTGAC-3'; Type I collagen (forward): 5'-CAGCCGCTTCACCTACAGC-3', Type I collagen (reverse): 5'-TTTTGTATTCAATCACTGTCTTGCC-3', collagen Type Ι (probe): (forward): 5'-CCGGTGTGACTCGTGCAGCCATC-3'; Π collagen Type Π 5'-GGCAATAGCAGGTTCACGTACA-3', collagen Type (reverse): 5'-CGATAACAGTCTTGCCCCACTT-3', Type II collagen (probe): 5'-CCGGTATGTTTCGTGCAGCCATCCT-3'; Aggrecan (forward): 5'-TCGAGGACAGCGAGGCC-3', 5'-TCGAGGGTGTAGCGTGTAGAGA-3', Aggrecan (reverse): Aggrecan (probe): 5'-ATGGAACACGATGCCTTTCACCACGA-3'. Triplicate samples were used for the analysis to calculate means and standard deviations (n = 3).

3.3.8 Statistical analysis

All experiments were measured with at least three replicate samples. One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) statistical analysis was performed using a KyPlot 5.0 software (Kyenslab, Tokyo, Japan). All quantitative data were indicated as the mean \pm standard deviation (SD). The significance level was considered when p < 0.05. The data were marked as * (p < 0.05), ** (p < 0.01) and *** (p < 0.001).

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Viscosity of gelatin solution of different concentration and stiffness of GelMA hydrogel

To obtain gelatin solutions of different concentrations and viscosities, different amount of gelatin powder was dissolved in serum-free H-DMEM. The three gelatin solutions showed a clear difference in viscosity. Their viscosities increased with an increase in gelatin concentration (Figure 3.2). Therefore, the 5, 10 and 15 (w/v) % gelatin solutions were used as cell culture matrix with low, medium and high viscosity, respectively.



Figure 3.2 Viscosity curves of gelatin aqueous solutions having a concentration of 5, 10 and 15 (w/v)% and serum-free cell culture medium at 37 °C.

3.4.2 Preparation of biphasic hydrogels loaded with cell-laden gelatin solutions

To investigate the influence of gelatin solution viscosity on chondrogenic differentiation of hMSCs, the biphasic hydrogels loaded with hMSC-laden gelatin solution were fabricated (Figure 3.1). The biphasic hydrogels consist of two phases. One phase was an inner phase that was composed of the hMSC-laden gelatin solution of different viscosity that was formed after the hMSC-laden gelatin hydrogel microcubes were dissolved at a solution temperature of gelatin (37 °C). The other phase was chemically crosslinked GelMA hydrogels as an outer phase. The outer phase of GelMA hydrogels was prepared by UV-initiated crosslinking of the GelMA macromer. hMSCs were homogeneously distributed in all the gelatin microcubes regardless of the concentration of gelatin solution. hMSCs were homogeneously distributed in the control GelMA hydrogels (Figure 3.3b and d). To investigate the synergistic effect of both chondrogenic induction factors and viscosity, chondrogenic induction factors (dexamethasone and TGF- β 3) were added in both gelatin solutions and GelMA hydrogels (Figure 3.3c). GelMA hydrogels containing dexamethasone and TGF- β 3 without gelatin solution were used as a control (Figure 3.3d). Cell distribution was almost the same



Figure 3.3 Phase-contrast micrographs of (a, c) biphasic hydrogels embedded with cell-laden gelatin microcubes and (b, d) cell-laden GelMA hydrogels without gelatin microcubes immediately after preparation. Dexamethasone and TGF- β 3 were added in the hydrogels shown in (c) and (d), but not added in hydrogels shown in (a) and (b). 5, 10 and 15 (w/v)% indicate the concentrations of gelatin solutions. GelMA indicates cell-laden GelMA hydrogels.

in samples with or without dexamethasone and TGF- β . Gelatin microcubes in the biphasic hydrogels became gelatins solution droplets of different viscosities after being cultured at 37 °C.

3.4.3 Cell viability

The cells were stained with calcein acetoxymethyl (AM) for live cells and propidium iodide for dead cells immediately after embedding and after 21 days of culture. The samples immediately observed after preparation of the biphasic hydrogels showed high cell viability and homogeneous cell distribution in gelatin solution regardless of different concentrations of gelatin solution and control GelMA hydrogel (Figure 3.4a and c). After 21 days of culture, most of cells were alive. Cell migration was restricted in the GelMA hydrogels (control) due to the stiff environment of the hydrogels. The cells in GelMA hydrogels had round



Figure 3.4 Live/dead staining of hMSCs in biphasic hydrogels embedded with cell-laden gelatin microcubes and cell-laden GelMA hydrogels (a, c) immediately after preparation and (b, d) after 21 days of culture. (c, d) Dexamethasone and TGF- β 3 were added in the hydrogels, (a, b) but not added in the hydrogels. Live cells were stained green, while dead cells stained red.

morphology and were homogeneously distributed throughout the GelMA hydrogels during cell culture of 21 days. On the other hand, the cells in the gelatin solution embedded in the GelMA hydrogels spread and aggregated after culture at 37 °C for 21 days (Figure 3.4b and d). Interestingly, cells cultured in a gelatin solution showed different cell morphologies according to the extent of the gelatin viscosity. Larger aggregates and less spreading of cells were observed in higher viscous solutions, whereas smaller aggregates and more spreading of cells were observed in lower viscous gelatin solution. When hMSCs were cultured under the presence of dexamethasone and TGF- β 3 (Figure 3.4c and d), the cells had the same viability and morphology as those cultured without dexamethasone and TGF- β 3 (Figure 3.4a and b). The results indicated that the addition of dexamethasone and TGF- β 3 didn't affect cell viability and morphology.

3.4.4 Influence of gelatin solution viscosity on proliferation and sGAG production of hMSCs

To investigate the influence of gelatin solution viscosity on hMSCs proliferation, DNA amount in each sample was quantitatively evaluated after culture for 3 h, 7 days and 21 days (Figure 3.5a and d). After culturing for 3 h, the DNA amount in the biphasic hydrogels was lower than that in the GelMA hydrogels (control). DNA amount at this time point reflected the seeded cell number in each sample. Gelatin solution droplets that were located at the peripheral regions of the biphasic hydrogel discs could come out of the biphasic hydrogel discs because of the punching process, which might result in partial loss of seeded cells. The partial loss of seeded cells should explain why the initial DNA amount in the biphasic hydrogel discs was a little lower than that in the GelMA hydrogels without gelatin solution droplets. During cell culture without dexamethasone and TGF- β 3, the DNA amount of hMSCs cultured in the biphasic hydrogels increased with culture time, while the DNA amount in the GelMA hydrogels remained almost unchanged (Figure 3.5a). The results indicated that hMSCs could proliferate in biphasic hydrogels. After culture for 21 days, the DNA amount of hMSCs cultured in high viscous gelatin solution. The DNA amount of hMSCs cultured in the biphasic



Figure 3.5 Quantification of (a, d) DNA amount, (b, e) sGAG content (c, f) normalized sGAG/DNA ratio in biphasic hydrogels embedded with cell-laden gelatin microcubes and cell-laden GelMA hydrogels (a, b, c) without and (d, e, f) with dexamethasone and TGF- β 3. Lw, Mid and High indicate the viscosity of gelatin solution at a concentration of 5, 10 and 15(w/v)%. GelMA indicates cell-laden GelMA hydrogels. Data are shown as mean \pm SD, n = 3. *, p < 0.05, **, p < 0.01 and ***, p < 0.001.

hydrogels and GelMA hydrogels under the presence of dexamethasone and TGF- β 3 (Figure 3.5d) showed the same trend as that cultured without dexamethasone and TGF- β 3 (Figure 3.5a). Production of sGAG content which is one of the main components of cartilage matrix was quantitatively evaluated to investigate chondrogenic differentiation of hMSCs. No sGAG was detected in the samples cultured for 3 h regardless of the presence or absence of dexamethasone and TGF- β 3. After culture for 7 and 21 days, sGAG content increased with culture time. The cells cultured in the GelMA hydrogels showed the highest level of sGAG production. The cells cultured in the biphasic hydrogels showed increasing sGAG content with the increase of gelatin solution viscosity (Figure 3.5b and e). Normalization of sGAG content to DNA amount also revealed that sGAG/DNA value increased with culture time and increase of viscosity (Figure 3.5c and f). When hMSCs were cultured under the presence of the dexamethasone and TGF- β 3, sGAG content and sGAG/DNA value were much higher than those cultured without dexamethasone and TGF- β 3 (Figure 3.5e and f). However, the increasing trend was the same as that of hMSCs cultured without dexamethasone and TGF- β 3. These results indicated that both cell proliferation and sGAG production were affected by gelatin solution viscosity. Supplement of dexamethasone and TGF- β 3 showed a synergistic effect with the that of high viscosity.

3.4.5 Influence of ECM scaffolds on osteogenesis of hMSCs

Expression of genes encoding type I collagen, type II collagen and aggrecan of hMSCs cultured in the biphasic hydrogels and GelMA hydrogels was measured by RT-PCR (Figure 3.6). Without stimulation with dexamethasone and TGF- β 3, expression of type I collagen increased, while expression of aggrecan decreased with culture time when hMSCs were cultured the biphasic hydrogels (Figure 3.6a and b). Expression of both type I collagen and aggrecan decreased with culture time when hMSCs were cultured in the GelMA hydrogels. Under the presence of dexamethasone and TGF- β 3, the expression of type II collagen was



Figure 3.6 Quantification of gene expression of (a, c) type I collagen, (d) type II collagen and (b, e) aggrecan of hMSCs in biphasic hydrogels embedded with cell-laden gelatin microcubes and cell-laden GelMA hydrogels (a, b) without and (c, d, e) with dexamethasone and TGF- β 3. Low, Mid and High indicate the viscosity of gelatin solution at a concentration of 5, 10 and 15(w/v)%. GelMA indicates cell-laden GelMA hydrogels. Data are normalized by gene expression levels measured in P5 hMSCs. Data are shown as mean ± SD, n = 3. *, p < 0.05, **, p < 0.01 and ***, p < 0.001.

detected (Figure 3.6d). The cells expressed a much higher level of aggrecan than did the cells cultured without dexamethasone and TGF- β 3 (Figure 3.6e). Expression of type I collagen of hMSCs cultured in the biphasic hydrogels for 7 and 21 days was higher that of the starting point, whereas expression of type I collagen of hMSCs cultured in the GelMA hydrogels for 7 and 21 days was lower than that of the starting point (Figure 3.6c). Expression of type II collagen and aggrecan increased with culture time and increase of viscosity. Expression of type II collagen and aggrecan was the highest in hMSCs cultured in the GelMA hydrogels. These results indicated that gelatin solution viscosity could not promote the expression of chondrogenic genes under the absence of chondrogenic stimulation factors. However, high viscosity of gelatin solution showed a promotive effect on the expression of chondrogenic genes under the presence of chondrogenic stimulation factors.

3.5 Discussion

A variety of materials such as mucin, dextran and glycol (PEG) have been used to create viscous microenvironment [18, 19]. Unlike these materials, gelatin derived from thermal denaturation of the collagen which is a major component of ECMs can provide more closely mimic- king ECM microenvironment [20]. In addition, hMSCs can be encapsulated in gelatin hydrogels because gelatin solution can form hydrogels by physical crosslinking at a low temperature such as 4 °C. Gelatin hydrogels can change to aqueous gelatin solution during culture at 37 °C. Such phase change property of gelatin was used to embed gelatin solution in chemically crosslinked hydrogels for 3D cell culture. The influence of gelatin solution viscosity of stem cell proliferation and differentiation was disclosed. Live/dead staining showed that hMSCs cultured in the biphasic hydrogels and GelMA hydrogels had high viability (Figure 3.4). The cells in the gelatin solution of the biphasic hydrogels spread and aggregated during cell culture. The viscous gelatin solution allowed cell spreading. The cells could migrate in the viscous matrix to form aggregates. However, hMSCs in the GelMA hydrogels had round morphology and did not form aggregates. The GelMA hydrogels had Young's modulus of 30.3 kPa [21]. The stiff GelMA hydrogels inhibited cell spreading and migration. DNA quantification revealed that gelatin viscous solutions provided a beneficial environment for cell proliferation compared to elastic hydrogels (Figure 3.5a and d)). When gelatin solutions with low, middle and high viscosity were compared, low viscosity was beneficial for cell proliferation. Previous studies have reported that cell proliferation and aggregation are limited in stiff hydrogel matrices due to their high elastic stresses [22-24]. Viscosity also affected sGAG production (Figure 3.5b and e). hMSCs cultured in higher viscous gelatin solution produced higher content of sGAG. Interestingly, in the absence of chondrogenic induction factors (dexamethasone and TGF-β3), hMSCs deposited cartilaginous sGAG in decreasing order of elastic hydrogels, high-, middle and low-viscosity solution (Figure 3.5b). The results suggested that viscosity could affect cell proliferation and ECMs production. High viscosity was more beneficial for sGAG production, while low viscosity was more beneficial for cell proliferation. Synergistic effects of viscosity and chondrogenic induction factors were observed when dexamethas one and TGF- β 3 were added in the biphasic hydrogels and GelMA hydrogels. Dexamethasone and TGF- β 3 have been widely used for inductions of chondrogenic differentiation of hMSCs [25-27]. Cells cultured in the biphasic hydrogel and GelMA hydrogels with dexamethasone and TGF-β3 showed much higher production of cartilaginous sGAG and expression level of genes encoding type II collagen and aggrecan than did the cells cultured without dexamethasone and TGF-\u03b33 (Figure 3.5 and 3.6). Under the presence of dexamethasone and TGF-\u03b33, the stiff GelMA hydrogels showed the highest sGAG production and chondrogenic gene expression. The biphasic hydrogels showed different influences depending on the viscosity of the gelatin solution. The sGAG

production and chondrogenic gene expression increased with the increase of gelatin solution viscosity. However, hMSCs cultured without dexamethasone and TGF- β 3 neither expressed type II collagen nor led to the up-regulation of aggrecan. The results suggested that viscosity could affect the chondrogenic differentiation of hMSCs and the influence could be magnified by the supplement of chondrogenic induction factors. Previous studies have focused on the influence of elastic and viscoelastic properties on stem cell differentiation [28, 29]. The 3D biphasic hydrogel culture system in this part could separate the influence of viscosity from elastic or viscoelastic parameters to investigate the viscosity influence on chondrogenic differentiation during the 3D culture of stem cells. The culture system was also used for the culture of other cell types, such as chondrocytes, to investigate viscosity impact on cell functions [21]. Hydrogels and biodegradable scaffolds have been broadly used in chondrocyte culture and autologous chondrocyte transplantation [30-32]. The 3D biphasic solution/hydrogel culture system may be useful to combine viscous solutions and hydrogels of a variety of biological molecules for autologous chondrocyte transplantation. The results should provide an insight into the influence of matrix viscosity on chondrogenic differentiation, moreover, a new strategy to design a viscous solution-based 3D hydrogel model for chondrogenic differentiation of hMSCs and tissue engineering applications.

3.6 Conclusions

This study disclosed the influence of gelatin solution viscosity on proliferation and chondrogenic differentiation of hMSCs in a 3D biphasic hydrogel culture system. The cells showed high viability during the 3D culture. High viscosity promoted cartilaginous sGAG production while inhibited cell proliferation. On the other hand, low viscosity promoted cell proliferation while suppressed cartilaginous sGAG production. Under the presence of chondrogenic induction factors, high viscosity gelatin solution had a higher promotive effect on chondrogenic differentiation of hMSCs than did low viscosity gelatin solution. The promotive effect of viscosity on the chondrogenic differentiation of hMSCs needed the synergistic effect of chondrogenic induction factors.

3.7 References

[1] G. S. Hussey, J. L. Dziki, S. F. Badylak, Extracellular matrix-based materials for regenerative medicine, Nature Review Materials 3 (2018) 159-173.

[2] T. Hoshiba, N. Kawazoe, G. Chen, The balance of osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation in human mesenchymal stem cells by matrices that mimic stepwise tissue development, Biomaterials 33(7) (2012) 2025-2031.

[3] Y. Chen, K. Lee, N. Kawazoe, Y. Yang, G. Chen, PLGA-collagen-ECM hybrid scaffolds functionalized with biomimetic extracellular matrices secreted by mesenchymal stem cells during stepwise osteogenesis-co-adipogenesis, Journal of Materials Chemistry B 7(45) (2019) 7195-7206.

[4] A. Higuchi, Q. D. Ling, S. S. Kumar, Y. Chang, A. A. Alarfaj, M. A. Munusamy, K. Murugan, S. T. Hsu, A. Umezawa, Physical cues of cell culture materials lead the direction of differentiation lineages of pluripotent stem cells, Journal of Materials Chemistry B 3(41) (2015) 8032-8058.

[5] H. Lu, N. Kawazoe, T. Kitajima, Y. Myoken, M. Tomita, A. Umezawa, G. Chen, Y. Ito, Spatial immobilization of bone morphogenetic protein-4 in a collagen-PLGA hybrid scaffold for enhanced osteoinductivity, Biomaterials 33(26) (2012) 6140-6146.

[6] Y. Chen, K. Lee, Y. Yang, N. Kawazoe, G. Chen, PLGA-collagen-ECM hybrid meshes mimicking

stepwise osteogenesis and their influence on the osteogenic differentiation of hMSCs, Biofabrication 12(2) (2020) 025027.

[7] J. Carthew, J. E. Frith, J. S. Forsythe, V. X. Truong, Polyethylene glycol-gelatin hydrogels with tuneable stiffness prepared by horseradish peroxidase-activated tetrazine-norbornene ligation, Journal of Materials Chemistry B 6(9) (2018) 1394-1401.

[8] A. J. Engler, S. Sen, H. L. Sweeney, D. E. Discher, Matrix elasticity directs stem cell lineage specification, Cell 126(4) (2006) 677-689.

[9] S. H. Oh, D. B. An, T. H. Kim, J. H. Lee, Wide-range stiffness gradient PVA/HA hydrogel to investigate stem cell differentiation behavior, Acta biomaterialia 35 (2016) 23-31.

[10] C. M. M. Murphy, A. Matsiko, M. G. Haugh, J. P. Gleeson, F. J. O'Brien, Mesenchymal stem cell fate is regulated by the composition and mechanical properties of collagen-glycosaminoglycan scaffolds, Journal of the Mechanical Behavior of Biomedical Materials 11 (2012) 53-62.

[11] S. Q. Liu, Q. Tian, J. L. Hedrick, J. H. P. Hui, P. L. R. Ee, Y. Y. Yang, Biomimetic hydrogels for chondrogenic differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells to neocartilage, Biomaterials 31(28) (2010) 7298-7307.

[12] T. Wang, J. H. Lai, F. Yang, Effects of hydrogel stiffness and extracellular compositions on modulating cartilage regeneration by mixed populations of stem cells and chondrocytes *In vivo*, Tissue Engineering Part A 22(23-24) (2016) 1348-1356.

[13] E. E. Charrier, K. Pogoda, R. G. Wells, P. A. Janmey, Control of cell morphology and differentiation by substrates with independently tunable elasticity and viscous dissipation, Nature Communications 9 (2018) 449.

[14] M. Bennett, M. Cantini, J. Reboud, J. M. Cooper, R. Roca-Cusachs, M. Salmeron-Sanchez, Molecular clutch drives cell response to surface viscosity, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 115(6) (2018) 1192-1197.

[15] D. Kong, L. Peng, S. D. Cio, P. Novak, J. E. Gautrot, Stem cell expansion and fate decision on liquid substrates are regulated by self-assembled nanosheets, ACS Nano 12(9) (2018) 9206-9213.

[16] X. Li, S. Chen, J. Li, X. Wang, J. Zhang, N. Kawazoe, G. Chen, 3D culture of chondrocytes in gelatin hydrogels with different stiffness, Polymers 8(8) (2016) 1-15.

[17] G. Chen, D. Akahane, N. Kawazoe, K. Yamamoto, T. Tateishi, Chondrogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells in a leakproof collagen sponge, Materials Science and Engineering: C 28(1) (2008) 195-201.

[18] J. Gonzalez-Molina, X. Zhang, M. Borghesan, J. M. da Silva, M. Awan, B. Fuller, N. Gavara, C. Selden, Extracellular fluid viscosity enhances liver cancer cell mechanosensing and migration, Biomaterials 177 (2018) 113-124.

[19] Z. Qu, F. Z. Temel, R. Henderikx, K. S. Breuer, Changes in the flagellar bundling time account for variations in swimming behavior of flagellated bacteria in viscous media, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 115(8) (2018) 1707-1712.

[20] C. Frantz, K. M. Stewart, V. M. Weaver, The extracellular matrix at a glance, Journal of Cell Science 123(24) (2010) 4195-4200.

[21] K. Lee, Y. Chen, X. Li, Y. Wang, N. Kawazoe, Y. Yang, G. Chen, Solution viscosity regulates chondrocyte proliferation and phenotype during 3D culture, Journal of Materials Chemistry B 7(48) (2019) 7713-7722.

[22] I. E. Erickson, S. R. Kestle, K. H. Zellars, M. J. Farrell, M. Kim, J. A. Burdick, R. L. Mauck, High mesenchymal stem cell seeding densities in hyaluronic acid hydrogels produce engineered cartilage with native tissue properties, Acta Biomaterialia 8(8) (2012) 3027-3034.

[23] S. J. Bryant, K. S. Anseth, Hydrogel properties influence ECM production by chondrocytes photoencapsulated in poly(ethylene glycol) hydrogels, Journal of Biomedical Materials Research 59(1) (2002) 63-72.

[24] J. H. Wen, L. G. Vincent, A. Fuhrmann, Y. S. Choi, K. C. Hribar, H. Taylor-Weiner, S. Chen, A. J. Engler, Interplay of matrix stiffness and protein tethering in stem cell differentiation, Nature Materials 13 (2014) 979-987.

[25] L. Bian, D. Y. Zhai, E. Tous, R. Rai, R. Mauck, J. A. Burdick, Enhanced MSC chondrogenesis following delivery of TGF-β3 from alginate microspheres within hyaluronic acid hydrogels *In Vitro* and *In Vivo*, Biomaterials 32(27) (2011) 6425-6434.

[26] E. M. Florine, R. E. Miller, R. M. Porter, C. H. Evans, B. Kurz, A. J. Grodzinsky, Effects of dexamethasone on mesenchymal stromal cell chondrogenesis and aggrecanase activity: comparison of agarose and self-assembling peptide scaffolds, Cartilage 4(1) (2013) 63-74.

[27] R. Cai, T. Nakamoto, N. Kawazoe, G. Chen, Influence of stepwise chondrogenesis-mimicking 3D extracellular matrix on chondrogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells, Biomaterials 52 (2015) 199-207.

[28] C. Tacchetti, S. Tavella, B. Dozin, R. Quarto, G. Robino, R. Cancedda, Cell condensation in chondrogenic differentiation, Experimental Cell Research 200(1) (1992) 26-33.

[29] P. Singh, J. E. Schwarzbauer, Fibronectin and stem cell differentiation-lessons from chondrogenesis, Journal of Cell Science 125(16) (2012) 3703-3712.

[30] X. Li, Y. Chen, N. Kawazoe, G. Chen, Influence of microporous gelatin hydrogels on chondrocyte functions, Journal of Materials Chemistry B 5(29) (2017) 5753-5762.

[31] X. Zhang, W. Zhang, M. Yang, Application of hydrogels in cartilage tissue engineering, Current Stem Cell Research & Therapy 13(7) (2018) 497-516.

[32] T. Sato, G. Chen, T. Ushida, T. Ishii, N. Ochiai, T. Tateishi, J. Tanaka, Evaluation of PLLA-collagen hybrid sponge as a scaffold for cartilage tissue engineering, Materials Science and Engineering: C 14(3) (2004) 365-372.

Chapter 4

Osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells in gelatin solutions of different viscosities

4.1 Abstract

Accumulating evidence indicates that stem cell fate can be regulated by mechanical properties of the extracellular matrix. Most studies have focused on the influence of matrix elasticity and viscoelasticity on stem cell differentiation. However, how matrix viscosity affects stem cell differentiation has been overlooked. In this part, a biphasic gelatin solution/hydrogel system was used for three-dimensional (3D) culture of human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs) to investigate the influence of gelatin solution viscosity on simultaneous osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation at the same culture condition. Gelatin solution promoted cell proliferation, while its promotive effect decreased with the increase of viscosity. The influence of viscosity gelatin solution resulted in an increase of alkaline phosphatase (ALP) activity, calcium deposition and expression of osteogenesis-related genes. On the other hand, in a low-viscosity gelatin solution, a lot of lipid vacuoles were formed and adipogenesis-related genes were highly expressed. The results indicated high viscosity was beneficial for osteogenic differentiation, while low viscosity was beneficial for adipogenic differentiation. These findings suggested the importance of matrix viscosity on stem cell differentiation in 3D microenvironment.

4.2 Introduction

Extracellular matrix (ECM) microenvironment is a three-dimensional (3D) network that surrounds and interacts with cells. Cell functions are regulated by various biological and physicochemical cues from ECM [1-6]. Although influence of biological and chemical cues on cell functions, such as stem cell differentiation, has been intensively studied so far, accumulating evidences indicate that physical cues, such as elasticity and viscoelasticity, also play an important role in regulating cell functions [7, 8]. Many approaches have been developed to explore the effect of such a physical cue, stiffness, on stem cell differentiation [9-13]. Initial studies of stiffness influence on cell differentiation have been performed on two-dimensional (2D) substrates [14-18]. Human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs) were seeded and grown on polyacrylamide (PAA) gels with different stiffness and the results showed stiffness-dependent cell

differentiation. hMSCs cultured on soft, intermediate and stiff PAA gels that respectively mimic the elasticity of brain (0.1-1 kPa), striated muscle (8-17 kPa) and premineralized bone (25-40 kPa) could differentiate to neurocytes, osteoblasts and skeletal muscle cells, respectively [19]. It has been well recognized that on 2D hydrogel substrates, stiff matrix is beneficial for osteogenic differentiation, while soft matrix is beneficial for adipogenic differentiation [20].

Studies have been further extended from 2D to 3D culture systems because 2D culture systems do not accurately reflect the complexity of 3D native tissue microenvironment. hMSCs encapsulated in alginate hydrogels with different elastic moduli differentiate to osteogenic and adipogenic lineages, which is dependent on elastic modulus [21]. Adipogenic differentiation primarily occurred in softer matrix with an elastic modulus of 2.5-5 kPa, while osteogenic differentiation occurred in stiffer matrix with an elastic modulus of 11-30 kPa, indicating that cell lineages were largely affected by matrices with similar stiffness to the microenvironment where cells reside. Softer elastomer scaffolds enhance chondrogenic differentiation of hMSCs, while stiffer ones promote their osteogenic differentiation [22, 23]. Thixotropic polyethylene glycol-silica gels have been used for 3D culture of hMSCs [24]. The thixotropic gels of different liquefaction stress, which is the minimum shear stress required for liquefaction of the gel, show different effect on differentiation of hMSCs. The gels with low (7 Pa), middle (25 Pa) and high (75 Pa) liquefaction stress showed the highest expression of neural, myogenic and osteogenic transcription factors, respectively. Enhanced stiffness of hydrogel scaffolds promotes osteogenic differentiation of rat bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells and accelerates bone regeneration [24]. On the other hand, soft gels prepared from self-assembling peptide facilitate adipogenic differentiation of hMSCs [25].

ECM microenvironment in tissues exhibits elastic properties as well as viscous properties. In spite of extensive studies about the influence of matrix elastic modulus on cell functions have been reported, influence of matrix viscosity on cell functions has been less investigated due to lack of good culture systems. A recent approach has been reported by using viscoelastic PAA hydrogels with independently tunable elasticity and viscous dissipation to disclose their influence on rat primary hepatic stellate cells [26]. Cell phenotype is much closer to non-differentiated stellate cells on highly dissipative gels. In another study, RGD-functionalized lipid bilayers with controlled ligand density and different viscosity were designed to investigate the influence of pure viscous surfaces on murine myoblast functions [27]. A lot of focal adhesions as well as cell spreading were observed on high viscous surfaces (low mobility). These studies performed on viscoelastic or viscous surfaces reveal the viscosity influence on cell functions during 2D culture. However, influence of matrix viscosity on cell functions during 3D culture remains elusive.

Recently, a 3D culture system has been established by embedding gelatin solutions of different viscosities in a chemically crosslinked hydrogel [28]. The system is applicable for 3D culture of hMSCs in viscous microenvironment. Meanwhile, osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation of hMSCs has been frequently conducted in either osteogenic or adipogenic induction medium. It is unclear how osteogenesis and adipogenesis of hMSCs competes each other at the same culture condition in 3D viscous microenvironment. Mixture medium of osteogenic and adipogenic media is useful for investigation of competing osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation of stem cells [29]. Therefore, in this part, hMSCs were cultured in 3D gelatin solutions of different viscosities with a mixture medium of osteogenic and adipogenic induction media to investigate how solution viscosity balances the osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation of hMSCs.

4.3 Materials and methods

4.3.1 Preparation of gelatin solutions and their viscosity measurement

Gelatin powder (type A, 300 bloom, Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, Missouri, USA) was sterilized in a glass bottle by using an autoclave at 121 °C for 15 min. The sterile gelatin powder was dissolved in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium with low glucose (1000 mg L⁻¹) (L-DMEM, D6046, Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, Missouri, USA), Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium with high glucose (4500 mg L⁻¹) (H-DMEM, D6546, Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, Missouri, USA), or a mixture medium of L-DMEM and H-DMEM at a ratio of 7:3 v/v to prepare high-concentration gelatin solution (15%, w/v) using a water bath at 50 °C with slow stirring. L-DMEM and H-DMEM contained 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS, Gibco, Grand Island, NY), 0.1×10^{-3} m MEM NEAA, 1×10^{-3} m MEM sodium pyruvate, 100 U-100 µg mL⁻¹ penicillin-streptomycin, 50 mg mL⁻¹ L-Ascorbic acid, 584 mg mL-1 (4 \times 10⁻³ m) L-Glutamine and 0.4 \times 10⁻³ m proline. Low- and middle-concentration gelatin solutions (5 and 10%, w/v) were prepared by diluting the high-concentration gelatin solution (15%, w/v). Totally 9 types of gelatin solutions were prepared as follows: gelatin solutions (5, 10 and 15%, w/v) in L-DMEM, H-DMEM and L-DMEM/H-DMEM mixture medium, respectively. The viscosity of gelatin solutions of different concentrations (5, 10 and 15%, w/v) prepared in L-DMEM, H-DMEM or mixture medium was measured with an MCR Rheometer (Anton Parr, Germany) using a rotational shear mode. The sample solutions were placed between two parallel plates (PP-50) with a gap size of 0.1 mm and then measured at shear rates ranging from 0.1 to 1000 S⁻¹ at a constant temperature of 37 °C. The viscosity of L-DMEM, H-DMEM and mixture medium was measured as controls.

4.3.2 Preparation of cell-laden gelatin hydrogel microcubes

hMSCs at passage 2 were purchased from Lonza (Verviers, Belgium) and sub-cultured in Mesenchymal Stem Cell Growth Medium (MSCGMTM, Lonza, Verviers, Belgium) under a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO₂ at 37 °C. The sub-cultured hMSCs at passage 5 were used for the following experiments. hMSCs were embedded in physically crosslinked gelatin hydrogel by suspending them in gelatin solution at 37 °C and gelation at 4 °C [28]. The sub-cultured hMSCs were detached by treatment with trypsin/EDTA solution (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, Missouri, USA) and re-suspended in the as-prepared 9 types of gelatin solutions (5, 10 and 15%, w/v) at a final density of 5×10^6 cells mL⁻¹. Each of the cell-laden gelatin solution was poured into a 300 µm thick silicone frame (AS ONE, Japan) which was placed on a perfluoroalkoxy (PFA) film-wrapped copper plate at 37 °C. Next, a glass plate was placed on the silicone frame to flatten the solution. The constructs were placed at 4 °C to allow gelation of the cell-laden gelatin solutions (physically crosslinked gelatin hydrogels). The cell-laden gelatin hydrogel sheets were transferred onto a nylon mesh having a mesh opening size of 250×250 µm (AS ONE, Japan). The cell-laden gelatin hydrogel microcubes were obtained by gently pressing the gelatin hydrogel sheets through the nylon mesh with a steel spatula and used for following experiments (Figure 2).

4.3.3 Preparation of gelatin methacryloyl hydrogels embedded with cell-laden gelatin hydrogel

microcubes

To prepare chemically crosslinked gelatin hydrogels, gelatin methacryloyl macromers were synthesized by introducing methacryloyl groups in gelatin molecules [28]. Porcine skin gelatin (type A, 300 bloom, Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, Missouri, USA) was dissolved at 10% w/v in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) at 50 °C and stirred until fully dissolved. Methacrylic anhydride (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, Missouri, USA) was added to the gelatin solution at a rate of 0.5 mL min⁻¹ under stirring condition at 50 °C and allowed to react in the dark for 3 h. Following a fivefold dilution with additional warm (40 °C) PBS to stop the reaction, the mixture was dialyzed against Milli-Q water using a dialysis tube (12-14 kDa molecular weight cut-off, Spectrum Laboratories Inc. USA) in the dark for 7 days at 40 °C to remove the salts and free methacrylic acid. The solution was lyophilized for 7 days to obtain GelMA macromer and stored at -80 °C until further use. GelMA macromer (10%, w/v) was dissolved in L-DMEM, H-DMEM or mixture medium, respectively and then mixed with photo-initiator, 2-hydroxy-1-(4-(hydroxyethoxy) phenyl)-2-methyl-1-propanone (Irgacure 2959, Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, Missouri, USA), at a concentration of 0.5% w/v to prepare GelMA precursor solutions. These solutions were sterilized by filtration through syringe filters with 0.22 µm pore size. The sterilized solutions were homogeneously mixed with the cell-laden gelatin hydrogel microcubes at a ratio of gelatin hydrogel microcubes/GelMA precursor solution of 1:2 w/v. The same medium was used for both the cell-laden hydrogel microcubes and the GelMA precursor solutions of each system. The mixtures were placed between a Teflon plate and a quartz plate separated by 2 mm thick silicone frame and then irradiated with UV light at 365 nm using a CL-1000 UV crosslinker (Funakoshi Co., Ltd., Japan) at a distance of 20 cm for 5 min. After UV irradiation, the GelMA macromers were chemically crosslinked to form GelMA hydrogel sheets embedded with the cell-laden gelatin hydrogel microcubes. The chemically crosslinked hydrogel sheets were punched with punches having an inner diameter of 6 mm to obtain 6 mm diameter discs.

4.3.4 3D culture and competing osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation of hMSCs in gelatin

solutions of different viscosities

The above-prepared GelMA hydrogel discs embedded with cell-laden gelatin hydrogel microcubes were cultured in osteogenic induction medium, adipogenic induction medium or mixture medium of osteogenic and adipogenic induction media under an atmosphere of 5% CO₂ at 37 °C with shaking. During culture at 37 °C, the cell-laden gelatin hydrogel microcubes were melted to cell-laden gelatin microdroplets where hMSCs were suspended. The medium was changed every 3 days. The osteogenic induction medium was the above-mentioned L-DMEM supplemented with 10 × 10⁻⁹ m dexamethasone (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, Missouri, USA) and 10 × 10⁻³ m glycerol 2-phosphate disodium salt hydrate (β-GP, Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, Missouri, USA). The adipogenic induction medium was the above-mentioned H-DMEM supplemented with 1 × 10⁻⁶ m Dex, 0.5 × 10⁻³ m methyl-isobutylxanthine (IBMX), 10 µg mL⁻¹ insulin and 100 × 10⁻⁶ m indomethacin (Indo). The mixture medium was prepared by mixing osteogenic induction medium and adipogenic induction medium at a ratio of 7:3 v/v.

4.3.5 Cell proliferation

DNA amount in each sample was measured immediately after preparation of the GelMA hydrogel discs embedded with cell-laden gelatin hydrogel microcubes and after culture for 7, 14 and 21 days. A DNA quantification Kit (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, Missouri, USA) was used to measure the DNA amount. At first, the samples were collected, washed with PBS twice and freeze-dried. Next, they were digested in papain solution (400 µg mL⁻¹) which was prepared by dissolving papain powder (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, Missouri, USA) in 0.1 m phosphate buffer (pH 6.0) with 5×10^{-3} m L-cysteine hydrochloride monohydrate (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, Missouri, USA) and 5×10^{-3} m ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid disodium salt dihydrate (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, Missouri, USA). Finally, an aliquot of the papain digestion solution was mixed with bisbenzimide Hoechst 33258 solution (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, Missouri, USA) and measured with an FP-8500 spectrofluorometer (JASCO, Tokyo, Japan) at an excitation wavelength of 360 nm and an emission wavelength of 460 nm. The fluorescence intensity values were calculated to determine DNA amount according to a standard calibration curve. Triplicate samples were used for the measurements (n = 3).

4.3.6 Cell viability

Live/dead staining was conducted with a Cellstain double staining kit (Dojindo Laboratories, Japan) to evaluate cell viability in each sample immediately after sample preparation and after culture for 21 days. The samples were washed with PBS twice and incubated in serum-free medium containing calcein-AM (2×10^{-6} m) and propidium iodide (4×10^{-6} m) at 37 °C for 15 min. The stained cells were observed with a confocal laser microscope (Zeiss LSM 510 Meta).

4.3.7 Alkaline phosphatase activity assay

ALP activity of each sample was analyzed with a sensolyte pNPP alkaline phosphatase assay kit (Anaspec, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, the samples cultured for 7 days were collected, washed with PBS twice, frozen in liquid nitrogen and crushed into powder by an electric crusher. The powder samples were dissolved in 0.2% Triton X-100 solution in ice/water mixture. The lysates were mixed homogeneously and centrifuged at a speed of 10,000 g at 4 °C to collect supernatants. Next, the supernatants were incubated with a p-nitrophenyl phosphate (pNPP) substrate solution and colorimetric detection was conducted at 405 nm. An ALP standard solution was used to prepare a standard calibration curve. The ALP amount was normalized with DNA content of each sample. Triplicate samples were used for the measurements.

4.3.8 Calcium deposit assay

Calcium assay kit (DICA-500, BioAssay Systems, USA) was used to measure calcium deposition of the samples according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, the samples cultured for 21 days were collected, rinsed with PBS twice, frozen and immersed in a 0.5 m HCl solution to digest the samples. The lysates were mixed with working reagent, incubated for 3 min at room temperature and determined by colorimetric detection at 612 nm. Calcium amount was calculated according to a standard curve and the data were was normalized with DNA content of each sample. Triplicate samples were used for the measurements.

4.3.9 Oil Red O staining and quantification

The samples were rinsed with PBS twice, fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde for 6 h at 4 °C and rinsed with water. After being treated with a 60% 2-propanol solution for 2 h, the samples were immersed in 60% Oil Red O working solution for 10 min at room temperature. The 60% Oil Red O working solution was prepared by diluting Oil Red O stock solution (0.3 mg mL⁻¹ Oil Red O powder in 99% 2-propanol) with water. After the cells were stained, the samples were washed with water and observed with an optical microscope. Next, these samples were dried in the air and the Oil Red O dye was extracted with 2-propanol at room temperature for 2 h. The absorbance of Oil Red O dye extracted from the stained cells was measured with a microplate reader at 540 nm. The absorbance results were subtracted with background values of the hydrogels containing undifferentiated cells. Triplicate samples were used for the measurements.

4.3.10 RNA isolation and Real-Time PCR analysis

After culture for 7, 14 and 21 days, the samples were collected, washed with PBS twice, frozen in liquid nitrogen and crushed into powder using an electric crusher. The powder samples were dissolved in Sepasol RNA I Super G (1 mL per sample; Nacalai Tesque, Japan). Chloroform was added to extract RNA through phase separation. Concentration of the extracted RNA was measured with a NanoDropTM Lite Spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA) and unified with nuclease-free water (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA). A first-strand cDNA synthesis kit (Applied Biosystems, USA) was used to convert RNA to cDNA. A 7500 Real-Time PCR system (Applied Biosystems, USA) was used to perform real-time PCR. Expression of GAPDH (a housekeeping gene) was used as an endogenous control and relative gene expression was calculated with a $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method. Data were normalized with gene expression levels of P5

| mRNA | Description | Oligonucleotide |
|-------|--------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------|
| GAPD | H glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase | Hs99999905_m1 |
| | | Forward 5'-GACCCTTGACCCCCACAAT-3' |
| ALP | Alkaline phosphatase | Reverse 5'-GCTCGTACTGCATGTCCCCT-3' |
| | | Probe 5'-TGGACTACCTATTGGGTCTCTTCGAGCCA-3' |
| | | Forward 5'-TGCCTTGAGCCTGCTTCC-3' |
| IBSP | Bone sialoprotein 2 | Reverse 5'-GCAAAATTAAAGCAGTCTTCATTTTG-3' |
| | | Probe 5'-CTCCAGGACTGCCAGAGGAAGCAATCA-3' |
| | | Forward 5'-CTCAGGCCAGTTGCAGCC-3' |
| SPP1 | Secreted phosphoprotein 1 | Reverse 5'-CAAAAGCAAATCACTGCAATTCTC -3' |
| | | Probe 5'-AAACGCCGACCAAGGAAAACTCACTACC-3' |
| SP7 | Osterix | Hs00541729_m1 |
| RUNX | 2 Runt-related transcription factor-2 | Hs00231692_m1 |
| LPL | Lipoprotein lipase | Hs00173425_m1 |
| FABP4 | Fatty acid binding protein 4 | Hs00609791_m1 |
| FASN | Fatty acid synthase | Hs00188012_m1 |
| CEBPA | A CCAAT/enhancer binding protein | Hs00269972_s1 |
| | | |

Table 4.1 Primers and probes for real-time PCR analysis.

hMSCs used for cell seeding. Expression of ALP, Sp7 transcription factor (SP7), secreted phosphoprotein 1, runt-related transcription factor-2 and bone sialoprotein 2 was analyzed to check osteogenic differentiation. Expression of fatty acid binding protein 4 (FABP4), fatty acid synthase (FASN), CCAAT/enhancer binding protein (CEBPA) and lipoprotein lipase (LPL) was analyzed to check adipogenic differentiation. The primer and probe sequences of target genes used in this part are listed in Table 4.1.

4.3.11 Statistical analysis

Each quantitative analysis experiment was carried out in triplicate. One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) statistical analysis was performed to evaluate the significance of the experimental data using KyPlot 5.0 software (KyensLab Inc., Tokyo, Japan). All quantitative data were reported as the mean \pm standard deviation (SD). When p < 0.05, the difference was considered significant. The data are shown as * (p < 0.05), ** (p < 0.01) and *** (p < 0.001).

4.4 Results

4.4.1 Gelatin solutions of different viscosities

The gelatin solutions with different concentrations (5, 10 and 15%, w/v) were prepared by dissolving gelatin powder in three types of culture media. There are Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium with low (1000 mg L⁻¹) or high (4500 mg L⁻¹) glucose or their mixture medium. The viscosity of gelatin solutions increased with their concentration (Figure 4.1). Gelatin solutions of the same concentration had almost the same viscosity even different medium was used to prepare the solutions (Figure 4.1d). The results indicated that the viscosity of gelatin solution could be controlled by gelatin concentration, whereas the three types of media used to dissolve the gelatin powders had no effect on viscosity. Therefore, 5, 10 and 15% w/v gelatin solutions, respectively.



Figure 4.1 Representative curves of viscosity measurements of gelatin aqueous solutions with a concentration of 5, 10, and 15% w/v in (a) L-DMEM, (b) H-DMEM and (c) mixture medium of L-DMEM and H-DMEM at a ratio of 7:3 v/v. (d) The viscosity of gelatin aqueous solutions with differentconcentrations in different media was compared by calculating the averages of viscosity values measured at a shear rate from 0.1 to 1000 S⁻¹. The viscosity was measured at 37 °C. Each medium without gelatin was used as controls. Data are shown as mean ± SD, n = 3. ***, p < 0.001.

4.4.2 GelMA hydrogels embedded with hMSC-laden gelatin solutions and cell viability

hMSCs were suspended in gelatin solutions of different viscosities and droplets of the hMSC-laden gelatin solutions were embedded in a chemically crosslinked gelatin methacryloyl (GelMA) hydrogel (Figure 4.2). The culture system allowed 3D cell culture in viscous gelatin solution for a long term. At first, hMSC-laden gelatin hydrogel sheets were prepared through physical gelation of hMSC/gelatin suspension solutions at 4 °C after mixing hMSCs in the gelatin solutions of three different concentrations (i.e., low, middle and high viscosity). The hMSC-laden gelatin hydrogel sheets were cut into discs by passing through a nylon mesh to obtain hMSC-laden gelatin hydrogel microcubes. Next, the hMSC-laden gelatin hydrogel microcubes were dispersed in GelMA macromer solution and the mixture solution was irradiated with UV



Figure 4.2 Preparation scheme of GelMA hydrogel embedded with hMSC-laden gelatin solution.

light to form chemically crosslinked GelMA hydrogels. The hMSC-laden gelatin hydrogel microcubes were embedded in the GelMA hydrogels as shown in Figure 4.3. Finally, the as-prepared hydrogels were cultured at 37 °C and the hMSC-laden gelatin hydrogel microcubes were melted to form hMSC-laden gelatin solution



Figure 4.3 Representative photomicrographs of GelMA hydrogels embedded with hMSC-laden gelatin hydrogel microcubes in (a) osteogenic induction medium, (b) adipogenic induction medium and (c) mixture medium immediately after preparation. Low, Middle and High indicate low-, middle- and high-viscosity gelatin solutions at a concentration of 5, 10 and 15% w/v, respectively. Scale bar: 200 µm.



Figure 4.4 Live/dead staining of hMSCs encapsulated in the biphasic hydrogels (a, b, c) immediately after preparation and (d, e, f) after 21 days of culture in (a, d) osteogenic induction medium, (b, e) adipogenic induction medium and (c, f) mixture medium. Scale bar: 250 µm.

droplets that were embedded in GelMA hydrogels, forming hMSC-laden biphasic hydrogels. The hMSC-laden biphasic hydrogels were cultured in osteogenic induction medium, adipogenic induction medium and their mixture medium. Live/dead staining of the samples immediately after preparation and after 21 days of culture showed high viability of hMSCs in the biphasic hydrogels (Figure 4.4). In all the gelatin solutions of low, middle and high viscosities, most of the cells were alive (green color) and only a few cells were dead (red color). The cells showed homogeneous distribution in the gelatin solutions immediately after preparation of the biphasic hydrogels. After culture for 21 days, some of the cells aggregated in the gelatin solutions. Cells cultured in all the gelatin solutions and induction media showed similar distribution and aggregation. Furthermore, no cell migration from the gelatin solution regions to the surrounding GelMA bulk hydrogel regions was observed, indicating stiff GelMA bulk hydrogels protected cell migration from viscous gelatin solutions.

4.4.3 Influence of matrix viscosity on cell proliferation

DNA amount was quantified immediately after preparation of the hMSC-laden biphasic hydrogels and after culture for 7, 14 and 21 days (Figure 4.5). The cells proliferated with culture time during 3D culture in the biphasic hydrogels. hMSCs cultured in gelatin solution of low viscosity showed the highest proliferation, while in high-viscosity solution the lowest. Cells cultured in all the three types of media showed the same trends of proliferation. A slight decrease of DNA amount after 7 days of culture should be due to cell leakage from the cutting edges of the GelMA hydrogel discs embedded with the hMSC-laden gelatin hydrogel microcubes. These results indicated that hMSCs had high viability and could proliferate in gelatin solutions. Low-viscosity gelatin solution was more beneficial for cell proliferation than high-viscosity gelatin solution.



Figure 4.5 Quantification of DNA amount after culture in (a) osteogenic induction, (b) adipogenic induction and (c) mixture medium for 0, 7, 14 and 21 days. Data are shown as mean \pm SD, n = 3. *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01 and ***, p < 0.001.

4.4.4 Influence of matrix viscosity on osteogenic differentiation of hMSCs

The hMSC-laden biphasic hydrogels were cultured in osteogenic induction medium and osteogenic differentiation of hMSCs was evaluated by quantification of alkaline phosphatase (ALP) activity, calcium deposition and expression of osteogenic marker genes, such as ALP, SP7 transcription factor (SP7), secreted



Figure 4.6 Influence of matrix viscosity on osteogenic differentiation of hMSCs cultured in osteogenic induction medium. Quantitative analysis of (a) ALP activity after culture for 7 days and (b) calcium deposition after culture for 21 days. Gene expression of (c) ALP, (d) SP7, (e) SPP1, (f) RUNX2 and (g) IBSP. Data were normalized by gene expression levels measured in P5 hMSCs. Data are shown as mean \pm SD, n = 3. *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01 and ***, p < 0.001.

phosphoprotein 1 (SPP1), runt-related transcription factor-2 (RUNX2) and bone sialoprotein 2 (IBSP) (Figure 6). ALP is an early stage marker and calcium deposition is a late stage marker of osteogenic differentiation. After culture for 7 days, ALP activity was evaluated (Figure 4.6a). ALP activity increased with gelatin solution viscosity. Calcium deposition was analyzed after culture for 21 days (Figure 4.6b). Calcium deposition also increased with gelatin solution viscosity. Furthermore, expression of genes encoding ALP, SP7, SPP1, RUNX2 and IBSP was quantified by real-time polymerase chain reaction (Real-Time PCR) after culture for 7, 14 and 21 days (Figure 4.6c, d, e, f and g). Expression of SP7, SPP1, RUNX2 and IBSP genes increased with culture time and gelatin solution viscosity. Expression of ALP increased with solution viscosity and was the highest after 14 days of culture. These results indicated that high viscosity was beneficial for osteogenic differentiation.

4.4.5 Influence of matrix viscosity on adipogenic differentiation of hMSCs

The hMSC-laden biphasic hydrogels were cultured in adipogenic induction medium to induce adipogenic differentiation. The influence of gelatin solution viscosity on adipogenic differentiation of hMSCs was investigated by Oil Red O staining and expression analysis of adipogenic differentiation-related



Figure 4.7 Influence of matrix viscosity on adipogenic differentiation of hMSCs cultured in adipogenic induction medium. (a) Oil Red O staining after culture for 14 days and (b) absorbance of Oil Red O dye extracted from the stained cells at 540 nm. Scale bar: 500 μ m. Gene expression of (c) FABP4, (d) FASN, (e) CEBPA and (f) LPL. Data were normalized by gene expression levels measured in P5 hMSCs. Data are shown as mean \pm SD, n = 3. *, *p* < 0.05; **, *p* < 0.01 and ***, *p* < 0.001.

genes, such as fatty acid binding protein 4 (FABP4), fatty acid synthase (FASN), CCAAT/enhancer binding protein (CEBPA) and lipoprotein lipase (LPL) (Figure 4.7). Oil Red O staining showed that oil droplets were detected after 14 days of culture (Figure 4.7a). Quantification of the stained oil droplets showed that low-viscosity gelatin solution showed the highest amount of oil droplets, while high-viscosity gelatin solution showed the lowest amount (Figure 4.7b). Gene expression of adipogenic markers was quantified by Real-Time PCR after culture for 7, 14 and 21 days (Figure 4.7c, d, e and f). Expression of FABP4, FASN, CEBPA and LPL increased with culture time. hMSCs cultured in low-viscosity gelatin solution showed higher expression of these genes than did the cells cultured in high-viscosity gelatin solution. The results indicated that low viscosity was beneficial for adipogenic differentiation.

4.4.6 Influence of viscosity on competing osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation of hMSCs

To investigate how solution viscosity affects the competition of osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation of hMSCs, the hMSC-laden biphasic hydrogels were cultured in a mixture medium of osteogenic and adipogenic induction media. A mixture medium of osteogenic and adipogenic induction media at a ratio of 7:3 v/v was used to stimulate the simultaneous osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation as previously reported [29]. The osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation capacities of hMSCs were investigated by analysis of osteogenic and adipogenic markers (Figures 4.8 and 4.9). Both ALP activity and



Figure 4.8 Influence of matrix viscosity on osteogenic differentiation of hMSCs cultured in mixture medium. Quantitative analysis of (a) ALP activity after culture for 7 days and (b) calcium deposition after culture for 21 days. Gene expression of (c) ALP, (d) SP7, (e) SPP1, (f) RUNX2 and (g) IBSP. Data were normalized by gene expression levels measured in P5 hMSCs. Data are shown as mean \pm SD, n = 3. *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01 and ***, p < 0.001.



Figure 4.9 Influence of matrix viscosity on adipogenic differentiation of hMSCs cultured in mixture medium. (a) Oil Red O staining after culture for 14 days and (b) absorbance of Oil Red O dye extracted from the stained cells at 540 nm. Scale bar: 500 μ m. Gene expression of (c) FABP4, (d) FASN, (e) CEBPA and (f) LPL. Data were normalized by gene expression levels measured in P5 hMSCs. Data are shown as mean \pm SD, n = 3. *, *p* < 0.05; **, *p* < 0.01 and ***, *p* < 0.001.

calcium deposition increased with viscosity (Figure 4.8a and b). Expression level of osteogenic marker genes of ALP, SP7, SPP1, RUNX2 and IBSP also increased with viscosity and culture time (Figure 4.8c, d, e, f and g). Expression of ALP increased for the first 14 days, while decreased after 21 days of culture (Figure 4.8c). These trends were the same as the gene expression patterns of hMSCs cultured in the single osteogenic induction medium, although their levels were lower, when the data in Figures 4.6 and 4.8 are compared. Oil Red O staining confirmed the presence of oil droplets (Figure 4.9a). Quantification of the stained oil droplets indicated more oil droplets were detected in hMSCs cultured in low-viscosity gelatin solution (Figure 4.9b). Expression of adipogenic differentiation-related genes, FABP4, FASN, CEBPA and LPL, decreased with viscosity, while increased with culture time (Figure 4.9c, d, e and f). All the data of oil droplet formation and expression levels of adipogenic induction medium. However, their levels were lower than those of hMSCs cultured in the single adipogenic induction medium, which is shown in Figure 4.7c, d, e and f. These results also indicated that high-viscosity gelatin solution was good for osteogenic differentiation, while low-viscosity solution for adipogenic differentiation of hMSCs even in mixture medium.

4.5 Discussion

Numerous studies have been conducted to investigate the influence of mechanical cues on cell functions and demonstrated that mechanical cues play a pivotal role in controlling cell functions, such as stem cell differentiation [30-32]. Although there have been intensive studies on the influence of matrix elasticity and viscoelasticity on stem cell differentiation, influence of viscous property of ECM on cell differentiation remains elusive, especially in 3D microenvironment. Therefore, in this part, a 3D biphasic solution/hydrogel culture system having viscous gelatin solution embedded in the chemically crosslinked GelMA hydrogel was used to investigate the influence of solution viscosity on the competing osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation of hMSCs during 3D culture. Gelatin derived from thermal denaturation of collagen has thermosensitive properties which show reversible sol-gel phase transition [33, 34]. Such intrinsic property of gelatin enabled cells to be encapsulated in gelatin hydrogel at low temperature (4 °C), which became an aqueous solution during culture at 37 ^oC with an adjustable viscosity (Figure 4.1). In addition, gelatin can be modified with methacrylic anhydride to prepare chemically crosslinked GelMA hydrogels by UV irradiation [35]. In this way, hMSCs were first embedded in the physically crosslinked gelatin hydrogel and then the cell-laden physical gelatin hydrogel microcubes were incorporated in the chemically crosslinked GelMA hydrogel (Figures 4.2 and 4.3). During culture at 37 °C, the physically crosslinked gelatin hydrogel microcubes were changed to gelatin solution droplets while the chemically crosslinked GelMA hydrogel remained as hydrogels to embed the cell-laden gelatin solution for 3D culture. Live/dead staining confirmed high viability of the embedded hMSCs and the cells were confined in the gelatin solution droplet regions (Figure 4.4). Thus, the biphasic hydrogel culture system could provide a 3D viscous microenvironment for hMSCs during cell differentiation culture. hMSCs cultured in the biphasic hydrogels proliferated with culture time. Cell proliferation was faster in the low-viscosity gelatin solution (Figure 4.5). The results were in good agreement with other studies reporting that soft hydrogels are good for cell proliferation [36-38]. Cell can spread more in low-viscosity solution than in high-viscosity solution [28]. Restricted cell spreading can inhibit cell proliferation [39]. Influence of gelatin solution viscosity on osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation of hMSCs was compared. At first, hMSCs laden in the biphasic hydrogels were cultured in a single induction medium of osteogenesis or adipogenesis. The high-viscosity gelatin solution promoted osteogenic differentiation of hMSCs because ALP activity, calcium deposition and expression of osteogenic differentiation-related genes (ALP, SP7, SPP1, RUNX2 and IBSP) in the high-viscosity solution were higher than those in the low-viscosity solution when hMSCs were cultured in osteogenic induction medium (Figure 4.6). On the other hand, hMSCs cultured in the low-viscosity gelatin solution formed more significant amount of lipid vacuoles and expressed a higher level of adipogenic differentiation-related genes (FABP4, FASN, CEBPA and LPL) than did in the high-viscosity solution when hMSCs were cultured in adipogenic induction medium (Figure 4.7). It has been reported that osteogenic differentiation and adipogenic differentiation have an inverse correlation and their competing differentiation can be controlled by culturing hMSCs in different ratio of osteogenic and adipogenic induction media [21, 29, 40, 41]. A mixture medium of osteogenic and adipogenic induction media at a ratio of 7:3 v/v had a good balance between the two differentiations of hMSCs [29]. When the hMSC-laden biphasic hydrogels were cultured in the mixture medium, hMSCs underwent competing differentiation to both osteogenic and adipogenic lineages where osteogenic differentiation was promoted in the high-viscosity gelatin solution (Figure

4.8), while adipogenic differentiation was promoted in the low-viscosity gelatin solution (Figure 4.9). The influence of solution viscosity on adipogenic and osteogenic differentiation of hMSCs was similar to the previously reported influence of matrix stiffness [21]. It has been reported that murine MSCs cultured in 3D alginate hydrogels are predominantly induced to osteogenic differentiation in stiff alginate hydrogel, while to adipogenic differentiation in soft alginate hydrogel. Cells might sense and transduce the mechanobiological signals from both viscous solution and stiff matrices through the same integrin adhesion complexes [42]. Considering the numerous studies of elastic and viscoelastic properties on stem cell differentiation and very limited systems for investigation of viscous solution on cell functions, the 3D biphasic solution/hydrogel culture system in this part worked as an useful system for the elucidation of viscosity on stem cell differentiation of MSCs could be significantly affected by the viscosity of culture solutions. The biphasic culture system can be used not only for 3D cell culture as shown in present study, but also for 3D culture of tissues in viscous microenvironment.

4.6 Conclusions

A 3D biphasic culture system was used to investigate the influence of matrix viscosity on competing osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation. The viscous gelatin solutions promoted hMSCs proliferation and their promotive effects decreased with increasing viscosity. hMSCs differentiation was dependent on solution viscosity where high-viscosity solution was beneficial for osteogenic differentiation, while low-viscosity solution beneficial for adipogenic differentiation. The results suggested solution viscosity played an important role in controlling stem cell differentiation.

4.7 References

[1] G. S. Hussey, J. L. Dziki, S. F. Badylak, Extracellular matrix-based materials for regenerative medicine, Nature Review Materials 3(7) (2018) 159-173.

[2] P. Hou, Y. Li, X. Zhang, C. Liu, J. Guan, H. Li, T. Zhao, J. Ye, W. Yang, K. Liu, Pluripotent stem cells induced from mouse somatic cells by small-molecule compounds, Science 341(6146) (2013) 651-654.

[3] D. E. Jaalouk, J. Lammerding, Mechanotransduction gone awry, Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology 10(1) (2009) 63-73.

[4] X. Yao, R. Peng, J. D. Ding, Cell-material interactions revealed via material techniques of surface patterning, Advanced Materials 25(37) (2013) 5257-5286.

[5] A. E. Miller, P. Hu, T. H. Barker, Feeling things out: bidirectional signaling of the cell-ECM interface, implications in the mechanobiology of cell spreading, migration, proliferation, and differentiation, Advanced Healthcare Materials 9(8) (2020) e1901445.

[6] G. Chen, T. Ushida, T. Tateishi, A hybrid network of synthetic polymer mesh and collagen sponge, Chemical Communications 2000(16) (2000) 1505-1506.

[7] A. D. Doyle, N. Carvajal, A. Jin, K. Matsumoto, K. M. Yamada, Local 3D matrix microenvironment regulates cell migration through spatiotemporal dynamics of contractility-dependent adhesions, Nature Communications 6 (2015) 8720.

[8] R. K. Das, V. Gocheva, R. Hammink, O. F. Zouani, A. E. Rowan, Stress-stiffening-mediated stem-cell commitment switch in soft responsive hydrogels, Nature Materials 15(3) (2016) 318-325.

[9] H. Yang, N. M. J. Cheam, H. Cao, M. K. H. Lee, S. K. Sze, N. S. Tan, C. Y. Tay, Materials stiffness-dependent redox metabolic reprogramming of mesenchymal stem cells for secretome-based therapeutic angiogenesis, Advanced Healthcare Materials 8(20) (2019) e1900929.

[10] K. S. Sen, D. F. Duarte Campos, M. Kopf, A. Blaeser, H. Fischer, The effect of addition of calcium phosphate particles to hydrogel-based composite materials on stiffness and differentiation of mesenchymal stromal cells toward osteogenesis, Advanced Healthcare Materials 7(18) (2018) e1800343.

[11] K. M. Wisdom, K. Adebowale, J. Chang, J. Y. Lee, S. Nam, R. Desai, N. S. Rossen, M. Rafat, R. B. West, L. Hodgson, O. Chaudhuri, Matrix mechanical plasticity regulates cancer cell migration through confining microenvironments, Nature Communications 9(1) (2018) 4144.

[12] A. Higuchi, Q. D. Ling, S. S. Kumar, Y. Chang, A. A. Alarfaj, M. A. Munusamy, K. Murugan, S. T. Hsu, A. Umezawa, Physical cues of cell culture materials lead the direction of differentiation lineages of pluripotent stem cells, Journal of Materials Chemistry B 3(41) (2015) 8032-8058.

[13] V. Irawan, A. Higuchi, T. Ikoma, Physical cues of biomaterials guide stem cell fate of differentiation: The effect of elasticity of cell culture biomaterials, Open Physics 16(1) (2018) 943.

[14] H. J. Kong, T. R. Polte, E. Alsberg, D. J. Mooney, FRET measurements of cell-traction forces and nano-scale clustering of adhesion ligands varied by substrate stiffness, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 102(12) (2005) 4300-4305.

[15] R. J. Pelham, Y. I. Wang, Cell locomotion and focal adhesions are regulated by substrate flexibility, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 94(25) (1997) 13661-13665.

[16] Y. S. Pek, A. C. A. Wan, J. Y. Ying, The effect of matrix stiffness on mesenchymal stem cell differentiation in a 3D thixotropic gel, Biomaterials 31(3) (2010) 385-391.

[17] S. Khetan, M. Guvendiren, W. R. Legant, D. M. Cohen, C. S. Chen, J. A. Burdick, Degradation-mediated cellular traction directs stem cell fate in covalently crosslinked three-dimensional hydrogels, Nature Materials 12(5) (2013) 458-465.

[18] R. McBeath, D. M. Pirone, C. M. Nelson, K. Bhadriraju, C. S. Chen, Cell shape, cytoskeletal tension, and RhoA regulate stem cell lineage commitment, Developmental Cell 6(4) (2004) 483-495.

[19] A. J. Engler, S. Sen, H. L. Sweeney, D. E. Discher, Matrix elasticity directs stem cell lineage specification, Cell 126(4) (2006) 677-689.

[20] A. Higuchi, Q. D. Ling, Y. Chang, S. T. Hsu, A. Umezawa, Physical cues of biomaterials guide stem cell differentiation fate, Chemical Reviews 113(5) (2013) 3297-328.

[21] N. Huebsch, P. R. Arany, A. S. Mao, D. Shvartsman, O. A. Ali, S. A. Bencherif, J. Rivera-Feliciano, D. J. Mooney, Harnessing traction-mediated manipulation of the cell/matrix interface to control stem-cell fate, Nature Materials 9(6) (2010) 518-526.

[22] L. Wu, A. Magaz, A. Darbyshire, A. Howkins, A. Reynolds, L. W. Boyd, H. Song, J. H. Song, M. Loizidou, M. Emberton, M. Birchall, W. Song, Thermoresponsive stiffness softening of hierarchically porous nanohybrid membranes promotes niches for mesenchymal stem cell differentiation, Advanced Healthcare Materials 8(10) (2019) e1801556.

[23] L. Wu, A. Magaz, T. Wang, C. Liu, A. Darbyshire, M. Loizidou, M. Emberton, M. Birchall, W. Song, Stiffness memory of indirectly 3D-printed elastomer nanohybrid regulates chondrogenesis and osteogenesis of human mesenchymal stem cells, Biomaterials 186 (2018) 64-79.

[24] Y. Zhang, M. Chen, J. Tian, P. Gu, H. Cao, X. Fan, W. Zhang, In situ bone regeneration enabled by a biodegradable hybrid double-network hydrogel, Biomaterials Sciences 7(8) (2019) 3266-3276.

[25] N. J. Hogrebe, J. W. Reinhardt, N. K. Tram, A. C. Debski, G. Agarwal, M. A. Reilly, K. J. Gooch, Independent control of matrix adhesiveness and stiffness within a 3D self-assembling peptide hydrogel, Acta

Biomaterialia 70 (2018) 110-119.

[26] E. E. Charrier, K. Pogoda, R. G. Wells, P. A. Janmey, Control of cell morphology and differentiation by substrates with independently tunable elasticity and viscous dissipation, Nature Communications 9(1) (2018) 449.

[27] M. Bennett, M. Cantini, J. Reboud, J. M. Cooper, R. Roca-Cusachs, M. Salmeron-Sanchez, Molecular clutch drives cell response to surface viscosity, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 115(6) (2018) 1192-1197.

[28] K. Lee, Y. Chen, X. Li, Y. Wang, N. Kawazoe, Y. Yang, G. Chen, Solution viscosity regulates chondrocyte proliferation and phenotype during 3D culture, Journal of Materials Chemistry B 7(48) (2019) 7713-7722.

[29] R. Cai, T. Nakamoto, T. Hoshiba, N. Kawazoe, G. Chen, Control of simultaneous osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells, Journal of Stem Cell Research & Therapy 4(8) (2014) 10000223.

[30] K. Ye, X. Wang, L. P. Cao, S. Y. Li, Z. H. Li, L. Yu, J. D. Ding, Matrix stiffness and nanoscale spatial organization of cell-adhesive ligands direct stem cell fate, Nano Letters 15(7) (2015) 4720-4729.

[31] J. H. Wen, L. G. Vincent, A. Fuhrmann, Y. S. Choi, K. C. Hribar, H. Taylor-Weiner, S. C. Chen, A. J. Engler, Interplay of matrix stiffness and protein tethering in stem cell differentiation, Nature Materials 13 (2014) 979-987.

[32] J. Lee, A. A. Abdeen, X. Tang, T. A. Saif, K. A. Kilian, Geometric guidance of integrin mediated traction stress during stem cell differentiation, Biomaterials 69 (2015) 174-183.

[33] C. Frantz, K. M. Stewart, V. M. Weaver, The extracellular matrix at a glance, Journal of Cell Science 123 (2010) 4195-4200.

[34] M. Djabourov, J. Leblond, P. Paon, Gelation of aqueous gelatin solutions. I. Structural investigation, Journal de Physique 49(2) (1988) 319-332.

[35] X. Li, S. Chen, J. Li, X. Wang, J. Zhang, N. Kawazoe, G. Chen, 3D culture of chondrocytes in gelatin hydrogels with different stiffness, Polymer 8(8) (2016) 269.

[36] I. E. Erickson, S. R. Kestle, K. H. Zellars, M. J. Farrell, M. Kim, J. A. Burdick, R. L. Mauck, High mesenchymal stem cell seeding densities in hyaluronic acid hydrogels produce engineered cartilage with native tissue properties, Acta Biomaterialia 8(8) (2012) 3027-3034.

[37] S. J. Bryant, K. S. Anseth, Hydrogel properties influence ECM production by chondrocytes photoencapsulated in poly(ethylene glycol) hydrogels, Journal of Biomedical Materials Research 59(1) (2002) 63-72.

[38] J. H. Wen, L. G. Vincent, A. Fuhrmann, Y. S. Choi, K. C. Hribar, H. Taylor-Weiner, S. Chen, A. J. Engler, Interplay of matrix stiffness and protein tethering in stem cell differentiation, Nature Materials 13 (2014) 979-987.

[39] J. D. Mih, A. Marinkovic, F. Liu, A. S. Sharif, D. J. Tschumperlin, Matrix stiffness reverses the effect of actomyosin tension on cell proliferation, Journal of Cell Science 125 (2012) 5974-5983.

[40] Y. Chen, K. Lee, Y. Chen, Y. Yang, N. Kawazoe, G. Chen, Preparation of stepwise adipogenesis-mimicking ECM-deposited PLGA-collagen hybrid meshes and their influence on adipogenic differentiation of hMSCs, ACS Biomaterials Science & Engineering 5(11) (2019) 6099-6108.

[41] Y. Chen, K. Lee, N. Kawazoe, Y. Yang, G. Chen, PLGA-collagen-ECM hybrid scaffolds functionalized with biomimetic extracellular matrices secreted by mesenchymal stem cells during stepwise osteogenesis-co-adipogenesis, Journal of Materials Chemistry B 7(45) (2019) 7195-7206.

[42] D. E. Discher, D. J. Mooney, P. W. Zandstra, Growth factors, matrices, and forces combine and control stem cells, Science 324(5935) (2009) 1673-1677.

Chapter 5

Conclusions and future perspective

5.1 Conclusions

This dissertation describes the influence of solution viscosity on cell functions by using 3D biphasic solution/hydrogel culture models. Gelatin solutions with three different concentrations and viscosities were embedded in chemically crosslinked GelMA hydrogels. Chondrocyte functions including proliferation, morphology, ECM production and phenotype were regulated by gelatin solution of different viscosities during 3D culture. Furthermore, solution viscosity could regulate chondrogenic, osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation of hMSC in the presence of respective induction factors.

In chapter 1, a general introduction is presented to elucidate how cells response to mechanical cues and how mechanical cues affect various cell functions. Previous studies dealing with influence of mechanical cues on cell functions are introduced and their limitations (e.g. elastic matrix) are discussed. In addition, the progression of recent studies (e.g. viscoelastic and viscosity matrix) is introduced and advanced models are discussed. According to the summary and discussion, the motivation and originality of this study are mentioned.

In chapter 2, a preparation method of biphasic gelatin solution/hydrogel culture models for 3D culture of chondrocytes and their viscosity influence on cell functions are described. These biphasic gelatin solution/hydrogel culture models were composed of cell-laden gelatin solutions with different viscosites as an inner part and chemically crosslinked GelMA hydrogels as an outer part. The viscosity of gelatin solution was adjusted by altering its concentration where viscosity was proportional to concentration. Low viscous solution showed fast cell proliferation and a more elongated cell morphology but less ECM production and cartilaginous gene expression, whereas high viscous solution enhanced cartilaginous gene expression and ECM production but showed slower cell proliferation.

In chapter 3, hMSCs were cultured in biphasic gelatin solution/hydrogel culture models in the absence or presence of chondrogenic induction factors. Cells cultured in viscous gelatin solutions showed high cell viability regardless of viscosity. Low viscous solution promoted hMSC proliferation but suppressed ECM production, whereas high viscous solution enhanced ECM production but showed slower hMSC proliferation. In particular, in the presence of chondrogenic induction factors, high-viscosity gelatin solution had a higher promotive effect on chondrogenic differentiation of hMSCs than did low- viscosity gelatin solution.

In chapter 4, solution viscosity was used to simultaneously regulate osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation of hMSCs at the same culture condition. hMSCs embedded in gelatin solution with different viscosities were cultured in a single induction medium of osteogenesis, adipogenesis and their mixture medium. Gelatin solution viscosity promoted hMSC proliferation, but it promotive effect decreased with increasing viscosity. Furthermore, hMSC differentiation showed viscosity-dependent results where low-viscosity gelatin solution was beneficial for adipogenic differentiation, while high viscous solution was beneficial for osteogenic differentiation.

In conclusions, 3D biphasic solution/hydrogel models were prepared to investigate the influence of solution viscosity on cell functions during 3D culture. Solution viscosity was easily controlled by altering solution concentrations. These preparation strategies enabled cells to be cultured in a 3D viscous microenvironment which is close to the 3D native ECM microenvironment. Gelatin solution viscosity regulated chondrocyte functions including cell proliferation, morphology, ECM production and cartilaginous gene expression. Furthermore, hMSC differentiation including chondrogenic, osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation was regulated by gelatin solution viscosity in the presence of respective induction factors. Taken together, these results suggested that solution viscosity was one of the key parameters affecting various cell functions.

5.2 Future perspective

In this study, cells were cultured in a 3D viscous microenvironment, which is originality of this study. To provide cells with viscous microenvironment during 3D culture, cells were laden in gelatin solution. Gelatin solution could provide cells with suitable biomimetic microenvironment and allowed cells to be embedded in the chemically crosslinked GelMA hydrogels due to its intrinsic gelation property. However, in spite of such advantages, gelatin has some limitations. For example, altering concentration of gelatin solution may affect cell functions through non-viscous parameters, such as osmotic pressure, volume exclusion and cell interaction ligands. In addition, the viscosity range of gelatin solution used in the study was not broad due to the preparation method.

In order to prepare better 3D viscous culture system, synthetic materials with a broad range of viscosity may be suitable candidates. Synthetic materials do not present cell adhesion ligands and are not degradable by mammalian enzymes. In addition, the viscosity of synthetic materials controlled by changing their molecular weight can provide a broad range of viscosity. However, since such synthetic materials cannot provide cells with cell-friendly microenvironment, use of the mixture of synthetic materials and biological matrices for cell culture will be a good strategy.

The 3D biphasic solution/hydrogel model has shown a great potential in regulating various cell functions related to tissue regeneration. This study can be extended to cancer research. In fact, mechanical cues can affect and regulate functions of both normal and cancer cells. So far, it has been reported that various mechanical cues (e.g. osmotic pressure, elastic matrix and viscoelastic matrix) can regulate functions of cancer cells. Indeed, in our body, the increased tissue stiffness is associated with cancer development and progression, and hydrostatic interstitial fluid pressures mostly increase in tumors. Furthermore, enhanced extracellular fluid viscosity affects cell alignment and cancer cell migration. Nevertheless, the influence of solution viscosity on cancer cell behaviors is still in its infancy. Therefore, culturing cancer cells in a broad range of viscous microenvironment will provide useful information about not only cell response to viscosity but also cancer cell behaviors.
List of publications and awards

Publications:

- 1. **Kyubae Lee**, Yazhou Chen, Toru Yoshitomi, Naoki Kawazoe, Yingnan Yang and Guoping Chen. Osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells in gelatin solutions of different viscosities. Advanced Healthcare Materials. 2020, 9(23): 2000617.
- Kyubae Lee, Yazhou Chen, Xiaomeng Li, Naoki Kawazoe, Yingnan Yang and Guoping Chen. Influence of viscosity on chondrogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells during 3D culture in viscous gelatin solution-embedded hydrogels. Journal of Materials Science & Technology. 2021, 63: 1-8.
- 3. **Kyubae Lee**, Yazhou Chen, Xiaomeng Li, Yongtao Wang, Naoki Kawazoe, Yingnan Yang and Guoping Chen. Solution viscosity regulates chondrocyte proliferation and phenotype during 3D culture. Journal of Materials Chemistry B. 2019, 7(48), 7713-7722.
- 4. Yazhou Chen, **Kyubae Lee**, Naoki Kawazoe, Yingnan Yang and Guoping Chen. ECM scaffolds mimicking extracellular matrices of endochondral ossification for the regulation of mesenchymal stem cell differentiation. Acta Biomaterialia. 2020, 114, 158-169.
- 5. Yazhou Chen, **Kyubae Lee**, Yingnan Yang, Naoki Kawazoe and Guoping Chen. PLGA-collagen-ECM hybrid meshes mimicking stepwise osteogenesis and their influence on the osteogenic differentiation of hMSCs. Biofabrication. 2020, 12(2).
- 6. Yazhou Chen, **Kyubae Lee**, Naoki Kawazoe, Yingnan Yang and Guoping Chen. PLGA-collagen-ECM hybrid scaffolds functionalized with biomimetic extracellular matrices secreted by mesenchymal stem cells during stepwise osteogenesis-co-adipogenesis. Journal of Materials Chemistry B. 2019, 7(45), 7195-7206.
- Yazhou Chen, Kyubae Lee, Ying Chen, Yingnan Yang, Naoki Kawazoe and Guoping Chen. Preparation of stepwise adipogenesis- mimicking ECMs-deposited PLGA-collagen hybrid meshes and their influence on adipogenic differentiation of hMSCs. ACS Biomaterials Science & Engineering. 2019, 5(11), 6099–6108.

Awards:

- 1. **Oral Presentation Award**, The 19th Asian BioCeramics Symposium, Taipei, Taiwan, 2019.
- 2. Best Presentation Award, The 2nd Glowing Polymer Symposium, Tokyo, Japan, 2019.
- 3. Best Presentation Award, The 1st Glowing Polymer Symposium, Tokyo, Japan, 2018.
- 4. **Best Poster Award**, The International Symposium on 3rd Asian University, Seoul, Korea, 2018.

Acknowledgements

At the end of my thesis, I would like to express my gratitude to all those who supported me throughout my PhD program.

First and foremost, my deep gratitude goes to my supervisor Professor Guoping Chen who sincerely guided me during my PhD course. He has devoted himself to supervising my research, including how to design research topic, how to conduct experiments, and how to write research article and PhD dissertation. His insightful feedback pushed me to sharpen my thinking and brought my research to a higher level. I do hope that I could be as lively, enthusiastic, and energetic as Professor Chen and to someday be able to be such a person. It is a great honor for me to have this opportunity to study my PhD in Professor Chen's group.

Besides my PhD supervisor, special thanks should be given to my master supervisor Professor Inn-Kyu Kang. He recommended me for Professor Chen and helped me to seize the golden opportunity to study in Professor Chen's group. Moreover, he always gave me a pep talk to me when I encountered difficult situations. He was the greatest strength throughout my PhD course.

I would like to give my special gratitude to Dr. Naoki Kawazoe and Dr. Toru Yoshitomi for their valuable guidance throughout my PhD program. Their positive attitude, modest character, professional research skills and thoughtful consideration have impressed me deeply. Moreover, they provided me with good comments that I needed to choose the right direction and successfully complete my PhD program. I am very grateful to work with them and to learn many things from them.

I would like to acknowledge my former members for their contributions. They are Dr. Jing Zhang, Dr. Xiaomeng Li, Dr. Ying Chen, Dr. Yingjun Yang, Dr. Xiuhui Wang and Dr. Yazhou Chen. Moreover, I would like to give my thanks to all my colleagues in Tissue Regeneration Materials Group for your patient support and help. They are Mr. Yongtao Wang, Ms. Yan Xie, Ms. Linawati Sutrisno, Mr. Jing Zheng, Mr. Huajian Chen, Mr. Rui Sun, and Mr. Shuo Wang.

I also want to express my sincere appreciation to Ms. Akiyama Haruyo and Ms. Akiko Ito. They assisted all our members with a lot of paperwork and procedures related to NIMS and University of Tsukuba. Their sincere efforts helped me to get used to life in Japan much easier and enjoyable.

I would like to thank my thesis committee members: Professor Tetsushi Taguchi, Professor Kohsaku Kawakami and Professor Seiya Tsujimura for their insightful comments, encouragement and meaningful suggestions during my PhD defense.

More importantly, I revere the patronage and moral support extended with love, by my family members whose financial support and passionate encouragement made it possible for me to complete this thesis.

This work was performed at Tissue Regeneration Materials Group of Research Center for Functional Materials (RCFM) in National Institute for Materials Science (NIMS) and Graduate School of Pure and Applied Science of University of Tsukuba. I appreciate the financial support from NIMS Junior Research Assistantship.